University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

ScholarWorks@UARK

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

7-2021

Understanding the Importance of Ambition in the Workplace

Jeff Bean University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd

Part of the Adult and Continuing Education Commons, Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons, Developmental Psychology Commons, Industrial and Organizational Psychology Commons, and the Organizational Behavior and Theory Commons

Citation

Bean, J. (2021). Understanding the Importance of Ambition in the Workplace. *Graduate Theses and Dissertations* Retrieved from https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/4237

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UARK. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UARK. For more information, please contact scholar@uark.edu.

Understanding the Importance of Ambition in the Workplace

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in Human Resource and Workforce Development

by

Jeff Bean Rhodes College Bachelor of Arts, Psychology, 1993 University of Arkansas Master of Business Administration, 2003

> July 2021 University of Arkansas

This dissertation is approved for recommendation to the Graduate Counci		
Vicki Dieffenderfer, PhD Dissertation Chair		
Ed Pohl, PhD Committee Member		
Commutee Member		

Carsten Schmidtke, PhD Committee Member

Abstract

Though a common term, ambition is a multifaceted concept that is vastly under researched despite it being labeled necessary for success in the workplace. Of even greater irony is that several sources indicate a significant majority of the reason that employees leave organizations is due to a perceived lack of career development or opportunity, a problem that speaks directly to talent management practices. In light the costly nature of this problem and the presence of sophisticated talent management professionals in large and medium-sized organizations which comprise half or more of the workforce, it causes one to question the assumptions that ambition is indeed valued in the workplace.

This constructivist study seeks to understand from both an employee and a managerial perspective how ambition is valued in the workplace. It leverages key theoretical constructs such as social cognitive theory and social cognitive career theory to understand aspects of the expression of ambition. Sixteen diverse working professionals with an average of over 20 years of work experience and nearly 10 years of managerial experience were interviewed about their lived experiences of how ambition is expressed and valued. Universally, participants agreed that ambition contributes to organizationally desirable outcomes including higher performance and increased retention as well as some participants noting other potential outcomes including increased innovation and even inclusivity. Despite this, the expression of ambition is highly attenuated by elements of organizational structure, the disposition of the proximal manager, as well as other variables including the gender expression of ambition.

Findings imply significant potential impact for talent management professionals and organizational leaders as they work to attract and retain talent in an increasingly competitive marketplace as well as suggest myriad other avenues for further inquiry.

Rationale and Dedication

As most of our waking lives play out in the workplace, I have focused my efforts here on trying to understand and evaluate the value of ambition at work. It is my sincere hope that this work serves to inspire and advance the professional practice of talent management.

I have many to thank and acknowledge for their contributions to my continuing journey. First, those of those most closely connected to the effort of my doctoral journey, Dr. Vicki Dieffenderfer, my advisor who has encouraged me and provided invaluable feedback to my many drafts to complete this ambitious endeavor. Also, my committee members: Dr. Carsten Schmidtke, a passionate teacher whose detailed feedback and comments in coursework and in this pursuit has made me better and, to Dr. Ed Pohl, a great leader for whom I have much respect and am grateful for his willingness to be a part of my doctoral journey. I owe Dr. Cynthia Field gratitude for developing the Workplace Ambition Measure and for her kindness in allowing me to use it for this study. Without her work, my own would have been more difficult. Thank you, Dr. Michael Moore for your encouragement, interest, and in particular, your leadership of eVersity and assistance in helping secure research participants. And, Dr. Javier Reyes, who in 2013 over conversation and coffee, gave advisement and encouragement in the decision to begin and end my doctoral journey at University of Arkansas.

In terms of those people who figure prominently in my life and helped me arrive at this point, my parents, grandparents, wife, and children are at the top of the list followed by the many teachers from kindergarten to college and graduate school that have made a larger impression than they are likely aware. It goes without saying, my parents, Jerry Bean and Viki Riley, as well as grandparents that are no longer with me – I wish they could see me achieve the success I

strive for - all of whom encouraged and admonished to do my best, to be better than they themselves were as part of their own ambition.

And my apologies for my never-ending quest to "do better" which certainly came across sometimes as "perpetually unsatisfied" – especially for my wife and children. I appreciate my wife Kristie, who attenuates and works to balance my intensity with her strong humanity and humility and has borne 20 years of my struggle with ambition and all that it brings with it. To my children, Riley, Lauren, and Taylor - to whom I have also tried to be both "more" and "better" as I feel I struggle more in efforts outside the workplace as the things that lead to success at work often do not always work so well in the home environment. I want them, more than anyone, to know my intention as they are a big part of the "why" behind my ambition to do better.

Thank you to the leaders in scouting I had as a youth and to those I have shared time around a campfire with as an adult, as well as athletic coaches, and those who have been my manager at work. Thank you to all those who believed in me, your efforts, exhortations, and feedback are deeply appreciated. Of all of those many people, I would call out Allen Brown, who invested much time in his service as Scoutmaster to continue to cultivate and direct my ambition as he worked to better prepare me and so many others young men for life.

There are those folks throughout my life have said particularly poignant or apt things that stand out... one very salient example is from my wife's aunt, Jeannie Earp, who noted in a conversation years ago on the desires of a parent for their children, "... you cannot want more for them than they want for themselves". It is a particular struggle as a parent to accept things like this and I find it often applies as much in the workplace to employees as it does at home.

As with many on a journey, I began this endeavor in part to "work out my own salvation". Though I have laudable achievements, my ambition has not been without significant cost. Rather, to believe one has wings and is meant to soar but to not achieve much beyond short hops of flight, interrupted by gravity and headwinds sometimes of my own making is frustration. So, both burdened and blessed, I sought to increase my own understanding as much as to advance knowledge... surely there are others with this dilemma? Perhaps my efforts might aid the flight (or plight?) of others?

Finally, this is dedicated to those who both have and struggle with ambition. And just as much, to those who struggle with certain folks with whom they wish had either more or less of it.

Regardless of which group you are in, ambition needs to be better understood.

I am grateful.

Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
The Context: Ambition in the Workplace	1
Problem Statement	7
Purpose and Research Question	9
As a manager, is ambition valued?	10
Significance of Problem	11
Theoretical Basis for Study	12
Assumptions, Limitations, & Delimitations	18
Summary	21
Definition of Key Terms	22
Chapter 2: Literature Review	25
Achievement and Motivation	26
Self-Determination and Self-Efficacy	27
The Continuum of Constructs	30
Personality	31
Ambition at Work	35
Talent Management & Career Development	40
Assessing Ambition, Determining Potential	51
Summary	53
Chapter 3: Methods	55
Participants	56
Informed Consent Procedures	57
Measures	59
Research Design	59
Interview Questions	61
Procedures	62
Data Analysis	65
Summary	68
Chapter 4: Results	69
Demographics of Participants	69

Interview Protocol	71
Participant Demographics & Interview Summary Data	72
Results of Interviews	72
Summary	82
Chapter 5: Summary and Discussion	83
Discussion of Results	83
Implications for Practice	88
Recommendations for Future Research	96
Introspection Suggest Opportunity	98
Summary	100
References	101
Appendix A: Informed Consent Document	117
Appendix B: Permission to use WAM	119
Appendix C: Letter to Participants	120
Appendix F: Pre-Interview Questionnaire	121
Appendix G: The Workplace Ambition Measure (WAM) Assessment	122
Appendix H: Sample Online Survey for Eligibility and Intent to Participate	123
Appendix I: Partner Organization Consent Agreement	124
Appendix J: Institutional Review Board Approval	127

List of Tables

Table 1: Needs and Drivers of Ambition	2
Table 2: Research and Interview Question Outline	10
Table 3: Working Definitions of Ambition from Literature	16
Table 4: Description of the Purpose of Work	36
Table 5: Summary of Participant Age and Gender	69
Table 6: Summary of Participant Work and Managerial Experience	70
Table 7: Summary of Participant Industries Represented	70
Table 8: Summary of Interview Duration	72
Table 9: Summary of Coded Excerpts for Management's Recognition of Ambition	77
Table 10: Value of Ambition to Talent Management Practice Area	80

Chapter 1: Introduction

Though the expression of ambition can range from an unqualified vice to a highly qualified virtue, its presence is sufficiently important that it is labeled as a "necessary factor in business success" (Wilcox, 2013, p. 7). The concept of ambition is deeply woven into the modern fabric of society in the United States and many view ambition as simply a facet of personality, yet this is an incomplete and not wholly accurate view (Jones et al., 2017). Despite the pervasiveness of the concept, ambition is under-represented in research literature, an especially ironic fact considering its common and seemingly easy-to-understand themes (Jones et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). As a result, the value of ambition in the modern American workplace is unclear.

The Context: Ambition in the Workplace

Modern western cultures attach a great deal of importance and meaning for their lives around the concept of "work" (Chandra, 2012; Weber, 1992). The contextual focus of this inquiry is on what occurs in the workplace, specifically the elements of career that interface with talent management. While one's career ambitions may vary over time, theorists have elucidated various meanings to the career concept as being a source of need fulfillment, self-concept, group identity, and even existential meaning (Lent & Brown, 2013b).

In light of this, it should be realized that work should be viewed with a multi-faceted approach rather than asserting an exclusive lens through which one should see time and effort of individuals and the work concept (Field, 2002). Because of the nature of work and career, the expression of ambition can take various forms and should not be limited to being too narrowly defined as a desire for material goods or power (McClelland et al., 1953) nor are there only two options with "largely absent" at one extreme and "excessive" on the other (Carucci, 2020).

For a more composite idea of ambition, the Center for Creative Leadership (CCL) (2013) identifies three needs and three drivers of ambition shown in Table 1 (Wilcox, 2013). Most of these needs and drivers align with a common theme of achievement, an element present in major theoretical constructs of the ambition concept (McClelland et al., 1953; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). However, just as no single perspective accounts for all behavior, individuals have varying needs and motives as well as degrees of effort and interest in meeting those needs. Though the expression of ambition can range from vice to virtue, CCL notes both necessity of ambition in business success yet insists that it must be a managed concept to be leveraged for career success in such a way so as not to "derail a career" when displayed in excess (Wilcox, 2013, p. 7) or be misinterpreted (Carucci, 2020).

Table 1 *Needs and Drivers of Ambition*

Need	Driver
Competence	Superiority, Competitiveness, Pride
Achievement	Drive, Control, Power
Rewards	Recognition, Profile, Status

Note: Summarized from *Managing ambition (1st ed.)*. by M. Wilcox, 2013. Center for Creative Leadership. Copyright 2013 by the Center for Creative Leadership

To properly manage this concept, it must be measured. While CCL provides a self-check of four items (recognition, work ethic, competitiveness, and individual success) which allows users to rank themselves from "moderate" to "extreme", this is not intended to be a validated instrument but rather a reflective self-assessment under the assumption that attendees in CCL workshops, because of selection bias, already possess some degree of ambition (Wilcox, 2013). To better understand the concept of ambition in the workforce, an understanding of the potential relevance of ambition is needed.

The Relevance of Ambition

An individual's career choices play out over the course of their lifespan in the workplace (Lent, 2013). Elements of ambition are relevant from both an individual and organizational perspective as ambition has been deemed a "necessary" element for success in the workplace (Wilcox, 2013). Further, it has even been labeled a "sleeping giant" regarding the potential for organizational and personal career impact of this concept (Siegling et al., 2019), a sought-after quality by hiring managers (Bersin & Chamorro-Premuzic, 2019), though it is often conflated or potentially confused with other useful constructs such as personality (Jones et al., 2016) or motivation (Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009).

Modern, large organizations often have specialized functions in the areas of recruitment and employee development that are charged with the task of managing talent in "talent war" that is the battle that organizations fight both amongst and within themselves to acquire, deploy, and retain the right persons in the right roles (Chambers et al., 1998; Keller & Meaney, 2017).

Despite this, there is little evidence that organizations understand, measure, or adequately address the concept of ambition in the process of talent management or workforce development (Jones et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Siegling et al., 2019; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). The irony of this approach creates the question of whether ambition is indeed valued in the workplace and, if so, to what degree. To provide research participants with a standardized, multifaceted concept of ambition and a way to gauge the extent of these facets of ambition, Field's Workplace Ambition Measure (WAM) (2002) is a validated assessment of the ambition concept that can be deployed to a wide audience. Importantly, the WAM also serves the purpose of creating a shared understanding which is useful as a conversation starter was utilized at the beginning of the interview process.

Measuring Ambition in the Workplace

During the development of the WAM instrument, five practical and distinctive themes emerged that are useful in characterizing the concept of ambition as it is manifested in career development (Field, 2002). To elaborate, from a psychological perspective, Field conducted an analysis of instruments purporting to measure more psychologically defined constructs of ambition in the development of the WAM. Thus, the one concept of ambition has five subscale items consisting of: "1) personal aspirations, 2) active and expressive engagement, 3) reliance on competitive and other external indicators for self-evaluation, 4) perseverance, 5) the degree of personal investment" (Field, 2002, p. 69) that together form a single comprehensive ambition concept capable of being measured and compared.

The question of whether ambition merits additional attention or consideration as a salient topic as success in the workplace has widespread association with aspirational and achievement orientations, two themes assessed by the WAM, yet there remains a noted lack of evidence of utilization of the ambition concept (Jones, et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Siegling, et al., 2019; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). Despite messaging and cultural artifacts that reflect aspects of ambition, the inability of modern medium and large organizations that often have sophisticated in-house talent management functions to facilitate the selection, assessment, development, and placement of skilled workers (Kotlyar, 2018; Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009) only contributes to the question if ambition is actively managed or even valued in the modern work environment.

The Modern Workplace & Ambition

Given the dominance of career upon life in the US and other western cultures, career choices are important and directly and indirectly have impact on virtually every aspect of those in the workforce (Lent & Brown, 2013a). From the time someone begins school, their success in varying disciplines plays a significant role in occupational choices and, consequently, socioeconomic status and social mobility (American Psychological Association (APA), 2019). It is important to note the choices made regarding education and vocation are not simply localized to an individual as they have many downstream, intergenerational consequences to society at large (APA, 2019). And, these choices and the options available are often made in the context of employment in which there is some shared responsibility between individuals and the organization in the context of a talent management function (Schuler, 2015; Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017).

With nearly 50% of the US workforce employed by organizations with 500 or more employees (Fox, 2016), the organizational perspective of these career choices is labeled "talent wars" as individuals and organizations work, whether collaboratively or each as an individual agent, to find a fit or match for their mutual needs (Keller & Meaney, 2017). In these large organizations, the use of a dedicated full-cycle talent management organization charged with recruiting, hiring, developing, and managing talent is commonplace (Woolridge, 2006). The organizational battle sites for these metaphorical talent wars are where competition for the valuation, acquisition, retention, and disposition of employee effort occurs as companies vie for market share and profitability (Chambers et al., 1998). Considering the widespread adoption of internet-enabled digital technologies, this is an increasingly competitive space that has been

significantly flattened by as neither employees nor organizations are as limited by barriers of geography ("A third industrial revolution", 2012).

From the economic maximization perspective of for-profit organizations, the goal is that agentic, rational organizations desire to have the most talented individuals available for the longest time at the lowest price (Morgan, 1997; Simon, 1979). From an individual's perspective, the goal is also simple and resembles the organization's goal as the rational, agentic individual with limited information seeks to make choices that provide a range from maximizing or, at least, satisficing outcomes that would include compensation or other factors such as career advancement opportunities or other factors (Simon, 1955).

Combining the basic desires of individuals with the significant resources and will of large modern organizations, organizations are potentially missing key synergies when they do not systematically explore the opportunities to influence and encourage the ambitions of employees. In organizations, the employee-manager relationship is especially important as an employee's proximal manager is the primary mediator of systems, policies, and processes of the organization (Chiaburu & Lim, 2008; Gill, 2008; Kane-Urrabazo, 2006; Whitener et al., 1998). Managers commonly assess performance as well as consider employee needs or desires in providing feedback which impacts advancement or promotion decisions and future opportunities (Steffens, et al., 2018). As an example, employees who want to advance in the organization may work longer hours or demonstrate other engaged behaviors such opting for more demanding work to signal a desire to get ahead or, they may deliver increased performance (Burke et al., 2014; Hogan & Holland, 2003). The desire to get ahead is often expressed as a familiar definition of ambition yet it does not fully encompass the concept though it can be a valuable resource to the organization (Benschop et al., 2013). A failure to recognize ambition can result not only in the

mis-assessment of current opportunity readiness but can also impact the future performance of the employee which may result in reduced consideration for future opportunities (Steffens et al., 2018). In effect, the organization that does not develop and keep its most talented employees will lose them to a market that may well find them working for competitors.

Problem Statement

In spite of this considerable relevance of ambition in the career development process, there is a notable scarcity of research on the topic of ambition which creates uncertainty regarding its actual relevance or value in the workplace despite many studies which note both the high salience of ambition to talent selection, performance management, or career outcomes as well as the scarcity of research on the topic (Bersin & Chamorro-Premuzic, 2019; Desrochers & Dahir, 2000; Jones et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Ng et al., 2005; Pettigrove, 2007; Siegling & Petrides, 2016).

Talent management comprises a wide range of human resource activities within the context of organization that is inclusive of selection, placement, development, and succession planning (Chambers et al., 1998; Schuler, 2015; Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017). In this regard, the Work Institute notes that voluntary turnover accounts for three of every four separations and represents a \$630 billion cost to organizations in the US alone (Mahan et al., 2019) with a lack of career development noted as a top reason for these departures (Achievers, 2020; Akhtar, 2019; Conference Executive Board (CEB), 2015; Gallup, 2017; Mahan et al., 2019; Morris, 2018). In addition, the total that US organizations collectively spend on training and development in 2019 is \$83 billion (2019 Training Industry Report, 2019). As such, ensuring this training is delivered to the right individuals with both the desire to benefit, the

ability to develop their potential as part of their own strategy to advance their career, and who are likely to stay at the organization are valid concerns (Bynam et al., 2002).

From the perspective of talent management, the two aspects of the ambition concept most related to career advancement and development are elements of the themes of achievement and aspiration (Field, 2002) which reflect an employee's ability to actualize the biological drive of "getting ahead" in life and career choices (Hogan & Holland, 2003; Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30). In the context of the workplace, appropriate career development programs and processes show an effort on behalf of the organization to find, develop, and retain good employees in productive roles (Chambers et al., 1998; Schuler, 2015; Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017). Despite this, the result is lack of career opportunity or development is frequently cited as a top reason employees leave an organization (Achievers, 2020; Akhtar, 2019; Conference Executive Board (CEB), 2015; Gallup, 2017; Mahan et al., 2019; Morris, 2018).

Outside of a very limited audience that is the target of Hogan Personality Assessments or CCL activities and literature, there is little evidence of ambition being used in any purposeful, structured means (Evatt, 2019; King, 2013; Wilcox, 2013). Given the thematic alignment of the ambition concept with career success in the workplace, it may be possible for organizations to take advantage of the ambition concept by assessing and managing an employee's career development accordingly to retain a high-performing workforce. Thus, this study sought to elucidate the potential value of organizations being aware of and more actively managing the ambition concept via the following problem statement: Is ambition valued in the workplace? This question was addressed by first assessing the extent to which a shared working definition of ambition exists and then by exploring the central research question via both an employee and a managerial perspective, each with a short series of questions that probe the respective question.

Purpose and Research Question

The purpose of this qualitative research was to explore the research questions:

- 1. Based on the WAM (Field, 2002), is ambition valued in the workplace from the view of the employee?
- 2. Based on the WAM (Field, 2002), is ambition valued in the workplace from the perspective of managers and supervisors?

This research was undertaken from a constructivist philosophy in that the question of the value of ambition in the workplace will be explored by examining the extent to which it is useful and present by examining the lived experiences of participants (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013). Further, it reflects a deeply constructivist approach as it relies heavily on self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977) and related constructs including the socioanalytic model of personality (Hogan, 1982), self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000), and social cognitive career theory (Lent 2013b) in which the concept of agentic individuals figures prominently and utilizes interviews as a means by which one might "know the truth" (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013).

The main research question of this study sought to determine how, or even if, ambition is valued in the workplace by interviewing experienced managers in an organization. The value of ambition was assessed by three sections of questions. The first section is intended to ensure a shared understanding of the multifaceted ambition concept and stimulate introspection while the second section explores the extent that the interviewee feels there is value in ambition by asking how they, as managers themselves, value the ambition of employees under their supervision.

Since interviewees had at least two years of managerial experience, the third section of questions was asked on this additional aspect of the expression or value of ambition in the workplace.

After administering the WAM and briefly reviewing the results, three questions that have the intent to both build rapport and appropriately frame the concept of ambition and assess the extent of a shared understanding were asked.

The interview questions are shown in Table 2.

 Table 2

 Interview Question Outline

Interview	Interview Questions	
Focus	4 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Section I	1. Review the pre-interview WAM (2002) assessment noting the five	
Understanding	themes, 1) personal aspirations, 2) active and expressive engagement,	
the ambition	3) reliance on competitive and other external indicators for self-	
concept.	evaluation, 4) perseverance, 5) the degree of personal investment	
	(Field, 2002, p. 69).	
	2. Based on this information, how has your view of ambition in the	
	workplace changed?	
	3. Based on the WAM, to what extent do you think that adequately	
	captures how you think about ambition?	
Section II	1. As you developed professionally, how was your own ambition a	
As an	factor in that?	
employee, is	2. To what extent, if any, was your ambition a factor that your	
ambition	supervisor or management in your organization considered? How?	
valued?	4. From your view, how important is it to consider ambition as a factor	
	in any of the areas of talent selection or acquisition, development, or	
	performance management? Why or why not?	
	5. How would things be different if your supervisor or organizational	
	management valued ambition more?	
Section III	1. As a manager, how or to what extent do you value ambition?	
(as applicable)	2. How is ambition valued in your organization?	
As a manager,	3. How important is it to consider ambition in any of the areas of talent	
is ambition	selection or acquisition, development, or performance management?	
valued?	(processes)	
	4. How important do you think the consideration of ambition is to	
	desirable organizational outcomes such as engagement, productivity,	
	retention? (outcomes)	
	5. How would things be different for employees if you or organizational	
	management valued ambition more?	

Significance of Problem

The topic of ambition has been largely overlooked in academic research (Jones et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). Further, its expression can be associated with highly positive or highly negative characterizations that have significant bearing on one's ability to both "get along" and "get ahead", two universal motives of people in modern organizational life (King, 2013; Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30). Despite the relevance of this topic, the most recent and applicable literature makes note of its conspicuous absence (Jones et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Siegling & Petrides, 2016).

In addition to being an insufficiently resolved issue in its own right, several studies indicate that an individual's career ambitions, in conjunction with their own career development and the reality of their situation, are a significant factor in and related to employee engagement (Albrecht, 2010; Fairlie, 2011; Fleck & Inceoglu, 2010). Both behavioral conditioning (Skinner, 1938) or social learning (Bandura, 1977) provides a simple yet plausible explanation for the case that positive reinforcement of ambition by internal feelings of competency and autonomy (Ryan & Deci, 2000) or, explicitly by career progression or compensation would reward this striving behavior (McClelland et al., 1953). By reviewing the abundant data on the related concept of engagement, it is possible to gain some insight into the potential hidden value or contribution of ambition in the workplace. From an organizational perspective, the optimal achievement of an organization's goals, whether financial or social, is thus highly dependent on employee engagement which represents the extent to which employees give discretionary efforts toward goal achievement in such was as enthusiasm and commitment (Gallup, 2019). In research covering over 1,800,000 employees over most every industry and country, there are significant correlates of engagement with many measures of individual and organizational performance

including "41% lower absenteeism, 70% fewer safety incidents, 17% higher productivity... [and] 21% higher profitability" in organizations that have more "engaged" employees (Gallup, 2019, p. 5). An organization that effectively manages the engagement concept would have a potential source of competitive advantage by matching ability, need, and desire of workers with organizational goals as well as by reducing frustration that is likely to result when an individual's ambitions are not matched by either their career path or appropriate counseling or development (Benschop et al, 2013; Matthews et al., 2003; Plachecki, 2003; Steffens et al., 2018). Finally, and of direct impact to organizations is the idea that ambitious behaviors are linked to both pay expectations and career satisfaction (El Baroudi et al., 2017).

Theoretical Basis for Study

The primary theoretical framework utilized is social cognitive career theory (SCCT). SCCT represents a highly evolved, validated, and broadly applicable career theory that is inclusive of both trait-factor and process-based career theories (Lent, 2013).

The SCCT framework emphasizes inputs of both personal agency as well as contextual factors that contribute to as well as understand three related outputs of career development: 1) career interests, 2) career choices, and 3) performance and persistence (Lent et al., 1994).

Importantly, SCCT represents the evolution of decades of values, motivation, and career theory research and is a comprehensive means to understand how people connect to a job or career.

(Lent, 2013). As it evolved from trait-factor based theories, SCCT notes factors such as interests and personality as exerting significant influence career decisions, yet it also incorporates "fit" considerations which evokes the importance of the interaction between individual elements and organizational elements such as culture and other distinguishing job or position aspects (Lent, 2013). However, SCCT goes further in recognition of elements outside the individual and

beyond the position or immediate organization as it considers more complex and dynamic "total environmental" factors such as technology or the overall climate of organizations in the modern economy that operate in the background and provide a contextual framework in which the interaction of individuals, jobs, and organizations plays out (Lent et al., 1994).

The SCCT framework asserts that both 1) cognitive development and social learning as well as 2) self-efficacy concepts are the key inputs in individual career choice and development (Lent & Brown, 2013b). Theorists of the school of cognitive psychology focus on how individuals perceive and process information and take the perspective that most conflicts are the result of a misperception of information caused by a faulty processing framework, or "selective processing" in which certain information reinforcing a negative perspective is given extra weight (Clark et al., 1999). This is important as it forms a basis by which learning and development with subsequent emotional and behavioral adaption occur in the workplace as individuals possess agency and interact with environmental factors, both key tenets of SCCT (Lent, 2013).

The input of social learning is best stated by Bandura (1977) in which, "...social learning theory approaches the explanation of human behavior in terms of a continuous reciprocal interaction between cognitive, behavioral, and environmental determinants" (p. vii). This system acknowledges the behavioral perspective that learning by operant conditioning occurs yet is tempered by internal cognitive processes and drives in the context of dynamic social interactions (Bandura, 1977). The behavioral component serves to both motivate and reinforce certain behaviors, though social learning goes one step further, indicating people learn from observation of the environment by modeling adaptive responses thus resembling vicarious learning scenarios in which people learn by witnessing reinforcement schemes applied to others (Bandura, 1977).

As a result of SCCT's evolution from Social Cognitive Theory, it underscores the significant influence of environmental factors that can influence choices such as financial considerations, social factors, or performance expectations among others (Lent, 2013). As a person advances through their career, the journey is marked by a combination of achievement and struggle. Achievement is easily recognized by wages, a title, or span of organizational influence, control, or regard (Lent, 2013). Alternatively, struggle is noted by conflict or competing commitments at work or between work and non-work environments when efforts directed to task mastery, promotion, or other achievement result present sources of frustration, a lack of career satisfaction, or engagement (Lent, 2013). As a result, the SCCT framework is capable of understanding and adding value to diverse situations as it blends elements of interest alignment, self-efficacy, appropriately incrementally graded experiences, expectations management, performance management, and career development and satisfaction (Lent, 2013).

Defining Ambition

It is likely most people have an idea of what ambition is due to such positive, popular, and pragmatic phrases such as "drive" and "fire in the belly" which readily evoke descriptions that present evidence of at least a basic shared understanding (Siegling & Petrides, 2016; Fire in one's belly, 2009). Despite this, a more than an anecdotal understanding will be necessary to have a more elaborate definition of ambition as a concept to bring clarity to what it is and, importantly, to what it is not. Though the WAM was utilized to give study participants an overview of the multifaceted concept of ambition, it is also important to also understand the nuances of the ambition concept in the literature to aid and clarify understanding of key behavioral constructs. Consequently, it is then possible to reliably measure it and as well as subsequently posit the operational utility that ambition might have in the workplace.

Ambition vs. Motivation. Though the overall concept of ambition is widely known, multiple sources often evoke achievement-focused language which reflect the general understanding that many modern Americans hold (Judge & Kammeyer-Mueller, 2012; King, 2013; McClelland et al., 1953; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). While a single article does not necessarily constitute authority, Siegling & Petrides (2016) cast ambition as the colloquial concept of "drive". Further, they note the concept of "ambition" is often tightly coupled to the concept of "motivation" (Siegling & Petrides, 2016). Despite the frequent coincidence, they distinguish ambition from motivation by noting the focus of the former (ambition) is on the "how much and to what extent" aspects of behavior while the latter (motivation) focuses on "reasons" or the "why" to explain behavior toward or away from a given outcome (Siegling & Petrides, 2016). This is very much in line with McClelland et al., (1953) perspective on "motivation" theories from the 1950's in which they declared the motivation concept focused more on direction and less on intensity or level of activity. It was this understanding of ambition which is found in the over half century old work of McClelland's Human Motivation Theory with its focus on "achievement" striving (McClelland et al., 1953). Thus, ambition is related to the concept of motivation though there is some agreement that the "ambition" term is more aligned with the extent to which directed activity is present rather than its direction.

Achievement Orientation. Ambition is often closely paired with a focus on achievement or mastery (Brim, 1992; Epstein, 1980; Spinner & Featherman, 1977; Talevich et al., 2017). This conceptualization of ambition squarely fits the more anecdotal description of a person as being very driven or having a competitive nature (Field, 2002; Pettigrove, 2007). The notion of achievement orientation represents a singular, easy-to-grasp, and important component of the ambition concept which can lead to a myopic but incomplete focus on a single element of what it

means to be ambitious. This occurs frequently enough so that the achievement orientation aspect is the focus of Epstein (1980) in which he narrowly and anecdotally defines ambition as "the fuel for achievement" for the future-minded (p. 1). These future-minded plans are expressed on a continuum of positively stated "healthy aspiration" to the negative "intolerable narcissism" and, are not always tied to material achievement though it often is easier to focus on this singular aspect of the highly visible attainment of material things (Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012).

As ambition is a common -yet-under-researched concept, a review of the working definitions in the literature illustrates a similarity and overlap in major themes (see Table 3).

 Table 3

 Working Definitions of Ambition from Literature

Source	Definition
Otto et al. (2016, p. 23)	A combination of the pursuit of extrinsic career success in terms of pay and position and intrinsic success as the positive subjective evaluation of professional development. The extent to which an individual has "high achievement motivation and strong career orientation".
Judge & Kammeyer- Mueller (2012, p. 759)	A "middle-level trait" expressed as persistent, aspirational desire to better one's situation by "striving for success, attainment, and accomplishment".
Elchardus & Smiths (2008, p. 248)	People who "entertain plans and goals", strive toward career advancement and would "agree to define themselves as ambitious".
Pettigrove (2007)	The extent to which an individual has a desire to rise in the form of commitment or determination that result in resilient and persistent behavioral action to achieve hard-to-achieve goals.
Field (2002, pp. 69)	The extent to which one is described as or identifying significant, "1) personal aspirations, 2) active and expressive engagement, 3) reliance on competitive and other external indicators for self-evaluation, 4) perseverance, 5) a degree of personal investment in a desired outcome."
Hansson et al. (1983)	Individuals with high "drive" or level of effort leveraged against task completion, vigor, and assertiveness as well as presenting a level of intensity and impatience as a trait-like characteristic.
Hogan & Schroeder (1980)	A personal characteristic resulting from an internalized goal setting and aspirational desire
Epstein (1980, p. 1)	"Fuel for achievement".

In working to arrive at a comprehensive and correct definition of ambition that reflects its true multifaceted nature, Field's (2002) work features an evaluation various existing measures and expressions of the concept of ambition to arrive at eight initial subthemes for quantitative evaluation (Field, 2002). These eight subthemes initially consisted of 81 items reflecting, "... 1) significant aspirations, 2) aggression, 3) productive energy, 4) perseverance, 5) competition, 6) single-mindedness, 7) novelty, and 8) visibility..." (p. 43) with each subtheme supported by one or more assessments and further qualitatively validated by a panel of individuals that were familiar with the concept prior to distribution to 210 participants for further testing and refinement (Field, 2002). Using factor evaluation, these 81 items yielded 25 non-redundant factors that were able to be sorted into 5 major themes reflecting, "1) personal aspirations, 2) active and expressive engagement, 3) reliance on competitive and other external indicators for self-evaluation, 4) perseverance, 5) the degree of personal investment" (Field, 2002, p. 69). It is these 25 factors that comprise the Workplace Ambition Measure (WAM) that provide the final insight needed to create the definition of ambition by reverse engineering Field's assessment. This step provides not only the working definition but an aligned assessment.

Thus, for this study, ambition is be defined as a stable, relatively enduring and measurable psychological construct that addresses the "how much" and "to what extent" aspects of motivation rather than the "why" element (Siegling & Petrides, 2016, p. 1). Further, it is acknowledged that ambition, as a concept, is readily evoked and commonly understood by such anecdotal descriptions as "drive" or "fire-in-the-belly" (Siegling & Petrides, 2016; Fire in one's belly, 2009). It should be noted that ambition can be expressed positively or negatively and, does not focus exclusively on achievement orientation but includes elements of personal active

engagement and future-oriented desired state that involves persistence-over-time and personal investment that often features elements that are measured against external or competitive indicators (Field, 2002; Siegling & Petrides, 2016).

Assumptions, Limitations, & Delimitations

Key assumptions of this study are that working persons between the ages of 30 and 50, especially those who are employed with organizations that have a professional talent management function, will have formed meaningful, relevant, and articulatable perspective on both their own ambition as well as relevant perceptions or informed opinions on those most proximal to them from an organizational perspective (i.e., one level above or below their own).

Though the sample size is likely sufficient to detect any significantly present condition or theme (Galvin, 2015; Guest et al., 2006; Hennink et al., 2017; Rijnsoever, 2017), an assumption of this study is the applicability of the ambition concept in various workplaces and industries. This can be contrasted with a limit in which a sample of only one industry which may not be sufficient to present adequate evidence of experimental effect that is not present or manifested in different industries. Though the concept of ambition is considered a universal theme, it may nevertheless play out differently in various settings. As such, sampling so that multiple industries would be represented would further increase validity (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015).

Another delimitation of this study is the decision to completely exclude any aspect of "political" ambition. Though the Latin word origin and precursor to "ambition", "ambitio" (pp. 14-15), reflects an etiological meaning with exclusive reference to political ambition may seem an odd choice yet, ambition remains a widely used and anecdotally understood concept outside of this vast but specific realm (King, 2013). Though large populations are likely substantially affected by those who win elections, the ambition of political office is deemed an overly narrow

application. This study seeks to focus on elucidated the value of ambition in the workplace, a different and arguably even more universally experienced phenomena.

This study included both the perspective of the employee and that of a manager on the value of ambition by interviewing workers who represented the object of efforts by the organization viz-a-viz management to interpret, and implement organizational culture (Chiaburu & Lim, 2008; Gill, 2008; Kane-Urrabazo, 2006; Whitener et al., 1998) as well as who possess managerial experience on the other side of this equation.

An additional limitation is that interviews questions were targeted to employees who are between 30 to 50 years old. While there is evidence that personality and various traits are generally stable after age 16 (Damian et al., 2019), given the focus of this research is situated in the workplace, it is generally by age 30 that, "an individual's entry into the work world [is]... tempered by the reality of his or her actual accomplishments." (Field, 2002, p. 98). On the other side of the selected age range, while age 50 in no way represents obsolescence, most collegeeducated male workers' peak earnings occur in their early-mid 50's (Perez, 2019). Though there is not complete gender equity in wages for men and women, the range of ages 30 to 50 incorporates the midpoint of the difference between the sexes (Perez, 2019). From a practical perspective, citing 2017 Federal Reserve data indicating less than 10% of workers retire before age 50 and a median age of retirement at age 62 (2018, https://dqydj.com/average-retirementage-in-the-united-states/), this age is sufficiently removed from retirement that striving behaviors are more likely to occur and thus would capture the essence of the focus of this research, that is, to discover the value of ambition in the workplace. In summary, regarding the employees who are being managed, ages 30 to 50 are selected to represent an age in which ambition, if present

from an individual perspective and if recognized or developed from an organizational perspective, will be ripe for the assessment of its value.

A limit of scope is present in that many good, related questions were not pursued. In the development of the WAM, Field noted additional questions such as, "Is ambition predictive of professional success?", "Do ambitious employees realizes their dreams?", and what barriers "derail ambitious professionals?" (Field, 2002, p. 111). These and other questions seem related to, yet remain distinct from, the question of the extent to which ambition is valued in the workplace by organizations. As such, while they represent interesting lines of inquiry, the present research endeavors to remain focused on exploring the value of ambition from the individual employee's or "bottom-up" perspective while gathering managerial or "top-down" perspective only when this perspective is additionally present as a convenience.

An additional limit of scope is a focus only on the outcome of turnover rather than the numerous theories or models of employee turnover and the exact means by which ambition may or may not be a factor. Specifically, there is no differentiation, comparison, or exploration of turnover intention or other predictors of turnover with actual separation. There is an abundance of research on turnover and the concern of this study is only that turnover is real, costly, and research indicates career development is major element for which ambition may be relevant.

Other limitations include the theoretical basis being selected as Social Cognitive Career Theory which represents an evolution of numerous prior theories and, most notably, a reliance upon Bandura's work on social learning theory and self-efficacy concept (Lent, 2013).

Considered alternatives include prior career theories such as the more pure "matching models" (Lent, 2013, p. 29) of Dawis & Loftquist's Theory of Work Adjustment (Dawis & Loftquist, 1984; Lent, 2013) or even Hogan's Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (Hogan, 1982). This

choice was as SCCT is a highly applicable career-focused theoretical construct which reflects or forms a basis for many elements of alternative perspectives.

In addition, though several personality paradigms are considered, Hogan's Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (1982) is deemed to be in greatest agreement with the overall approach of the author. This is likely the result of the foundation of the socioanalytic model having a foundation with Bandura's social cognitive approach as well as Hogan's extensive work on personality derailers when certain traits are either absent or expressed in excess of desirable levels (Bandura, 1977; Hogan Assessments, 2019). In addition, Socioanalytic Personality Theory is grounded in the familiar, well-tested five-factor theory yet presents a valid extension of it that increases its utility (Hogan, 1982).

Finally, the relevance, presence, and sensitivity to issues of gender, sex, and imbalances of power in the workplace and culture in general are greater than perhaps ever before considering the viral rise of the "me too" movement (Burke, 2020). Despite the potential salience of these issues in the treatment of ambition in the workplace as well as the potential effect of greater-than-usual unemployment and other workplace irregularities in the wake of the COVID-19 global pandemic, these issues are set aside for the present study.

Summary

Ambition is a common and pervasive concept that has been labeled essential for vocational success yet has somehow escaped the extensive attention of academic literature. The concept of ambition is sometimes conflated, confused, or entangled with the related concept of motivation though it is conceptually different. Ambition is often narrowly focused on achievement or associated with personality constructs. By first understanding foundational concepts and an explicitly stated definition, ambition can be examined from the context of the

workplace in which most medium-to-large sized organizations have professionals dedicated to all aspects of talent management. The goal of this study is to interview experienced managers to determine if ambition is valued in the workplace from the perspective of the organization.

Definition of Key Terms

The following terminology is presented for understanding of a limited set of key terms used within this volume.

Agency – A description of the phenomena to be able to exert discretionary choice and action on a situation; to substantially determine one's own course of behavior rather than simply reacting reflexively or automatically (Bandura, 2001).

Ambition – A relatively stable, multifaceted psychological construct that may be obscured by popular Five-Factor Personality Models of personality (Jones et al., 2017) that describes and alters behavior and behavioral intentions comparative to others or a referent "self" in the following areas: "1) personal aspirations, 2) active and expressive engagement, 3) reliance on competitive and other external indicators for self-evaluation, 4) perseverance, 5) the degree of personal investment" (Field, 2002, p. 69). Anecdotally, ambition is the often expressed as the level of "drive" or "fire in the belly" of behavior or behavioral intention and often conflated with "motivation" (Fire in one's belly, 2009; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009; Siegling & Petrides, 2016).

Career Progression (Career Advancement) - An aspect of talent management focuses on achieving and aligning the individual's career interests, and potential with the organization's opportunities and needs (Capelli & Keller, 2014).

Competitiveness – Activities or thoughts in which one compares or evaluates various aspects of one's own performance with the actual or potential performance of others (Field, 2002).

Drive – A term descriptive, evocative, and "synonymous" with ambition (Siegling & Petrides, 2016, p.14) with only one study (Siegling et al., 2019) noting it as potentially distinctive concept (Fire in one's belly, 2009; Judge & Kammeyer-Mueller, 2012; Siegling & Petrides, 2016).

Engagement – A description of the extent to which a person is active in their interaction in situations or others (Field, 2002).

Five-Factor Personality Models – The underlying dominant structure of a number of personality models based upon the primary dimensions of openness to experience, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism (Goldberg, 1990; Jones et al., 2016; Judge & Kammeyer-Mueller, 2012; Matthews et al., 2003).

Motivation – A description of the "what" or motive element that drives or underlies behavior or behavioral intention. This term is often conflated with "ambition" (McClelland et al., 1953; Siegling & Petrides, 2016).

Performance Management – An aspect of talent management focuses on aspects of 1) defining and measuring and 2) achieving and aligning the individual's performance with the organization's goals (Lawler, 2017).

Perseverance – A description of the duration or persistence of behavior or behavioral intention toward or away an object (Field, 2002).

Personal Aspiration – A description of the extent to which a person has or expresses desire to achieve a certain outcome often but not necessarily tied to achievement (Field, 2002).

Personal Investment – A description of the extent to which an individual is willing to be highly involved or agentic in behaviors directed to creating a desired end-state (Field, 2002).

Process-Based Career Theory – Career theories that place a premium on contextual or situational factors that influence career choice and development (Gothard, 2001).

Self – Efficacy – The extent to which one's referent self has belief that a certain task or outcome can be achieved; a measure of instrumentality in creating a desired outcome (Bandura, 1977).

Talent Management - The human resource function of an organizations whose role prioritizes the selection, placement, development, and succession activities of human capital assets (Chambers et al., 1998; Schuler, 2015; Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017).

Trait- and Factor-Based Career Theory – Theories focused on trait-based factors such as abilities, interests, personality, etc. to influence career choice and development (Gothard, 2001).

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The previous chapter introduces the concept of ambition as both an essential element in career development and provides evidence that it may be an overlooked concept in academic research. In addition, social cognitive career theory (SCCT) (Lent et al., 1994) was provided as an overarching theoretical lens through which the relevance of personal agency, self-efficacy, personality, motivation, and other elements in the context of career development and progression in the workplace including the highly variable state of talent management practices. Chapter 2 provides a review of key literature that underlies each of these topics.

In the pursuit of understanding the value of ambition in the workplace, it is necessary to examine factors and concepts that can be categorized as either endogenous or exogenous to the individual. Endogenous or internal topics are focused on the psychological and behavioral understanding of ambition. In defining ambition from this internal perspective of what ambition looks or feels like, it seems there are a number of colloquial and anecdotal descriptions in which phrases such as "drive", "fire-in-the-belly", "motivation" (Fire in one's belly, 2009; Judge & Kammeyer-Mueller, 2012; Siegling & Petrides, 2016) as well as such self-evident indicators that one "knows it when [they] see it" readily applies (Jacobellis vs. Ohio, 1964, p. 197). Though these are colorful and perhaps even insightful or accurate, it is necessary to understand ambition as a distinct psychological concept. Upon examination, it is apparent that ambition is related to concepts of motivation, self-efficacy, and as well as personality. Additionally, it is more extensive than a simple focus on achievement. Regarding exogenous or external topics necessary to understand the application of the ambition concept in the modern workplace setting of medium to large organizations, the related topics of 1) talent development, and 2) career development are relevant. As such, a review of the literature of conceptual underpinnings, related concepts, contextual topics as well as a review of the assessment of ambition as precursors to the study of the value of ambition in the workplace.

Achievement and Motivation

A useful first step is to examine and then disentangle concepts and theories of motivation from often comingled concepts of ambition. The two are likely conflated as evidenced by their use in common speech as well as conflation in career development (Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009). That is, if a person is label as being ambitious, they are likely motivated yet, just because they are motivated does not mean that they are ambitious. The term "motivation" is often used to address two different questions regarding human behavior: 1) why someone behaves as they do and, 2) to what extent a given behavior is exhibited (McClelland, 1987; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). In other words, there is a difference between motivational reasons and motivational level, respectively. Of these, former is far more akin to the ambition concept and merits elaboration (Siegling & Petrides, 2016).

Notwithstanding this distinction, one motivation theory has significant focus on the need for achievement, which is often an element associated with ambition and as a result, potentially contributes to the conflation. Specifically, McClelland's Theory of Acquired Needs postulates that people have three fundamental needs: the need for affiliation, the need for power, and the need for achievement which exists as reasons for behavior, a basis more typically aligned with the ambition construct than motivation (McClelland, 1961; McClelland, 1987). Though McClelland (1961) did an exceedingly admirable job tying the overall milieu of achievement orientation to the rise of economic development in western Europe, he extended this to the individual level by indicating that those with a high achievement orientation have a recognizable personality type. Further, he noted that there are other associated aspects of the individual which

also contribute or even hinder their "success" such as excessive self-serving behaviors (McClelland, 1961). However, of particular interest, is McClelland's indication that there are other aspects of the ambition concept such as a "dynamic attitude toward time" and "motion" that are archetypal elements of the ambitious person as well as themes of perseverance (McClelland, 1961, p. 304). Conceptually, this underscores that the concept of ambition is not to be overly dominated by the idea that achievement orientation or material success represents an exclusive or exhaustively complete picture of a larger picture of what ambition represents both as an idea and behaviorally in the workplace (McClelland, 1961).

In regard to the validation and alignment of the three needs that McClelland identified in his theory, though McClelland distinguished power from achievement (McClelland & Burnham, 1976), it seems quite reasonable that these two are potentially related or perhaps intertwined in practice yet McClelland distinguishes power from achievement principally with the focus of a desire for group or organizational influence rather than personally or individually focused on self in the case of the latter (McClelland & Burnham, 1976). It is also possible that, in practice, ambition may simply be perceived as often co-existing with power and achievement without McClelland's distinction.

Self-Determination and Self-Efficacy

An additional framework that merits examination and which has similar features to aspects of McClelland's and Hogan's work is that of Ryan and Deci's self-determination theory (2000). At the onset, it is worth noting that Ryan and Deci define motivation as "concern[ing] energy, direction, persistence, and equifinality" as "aspects of [motivation] activation and intention" which reflects as especially broad and inclusive view of motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000, p. 69). Despite this inclusivity and its namesake focus on "self-determination", the theory indicates

there are three key psychological needs to be satisfied: competence, autonomy, and relatedness (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Though there is no reference to either Hogan or McClelland, the parallels to both are clear though a clear difference with McClelland's work (1987) is a focus on the situational and social context that aid or hamper the development of an actualized self-concept via behavioral responses (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Interestingly, in the espousal of their Self-determination theory, Ryan and Deci (2000) note that there are both intrinsic and extrinsic factors that affect motivation and indicate an individual has an ability to self-regulate. Further, Ryan and Deci (2000) note that these factors are accompanied by conditions that can sustain or extinguish such internal processes, even in the face of extrinsic motivational factors or other context. Perhaps the greatest relevance to a study on ambition is, through their (Ryan & Deci, 2000) inclusive definition of motivation which includes reference to not simply direction but level. Thus, to disentangle ambition as a distinct concept from motivation, it is important to understand that motivation is a concept which can refer to either what a person's interests are as well as the level or extent to which they are motivated to pursue them (Siegling & Petrides, 2016). This is the conceptualization of Siegling and Petrides (2016) that is complimented by a host of theorists that reinforce this approach including McClelland (McClelland, 1987) as well as Ryan and Deci (2000).

An additional concept that is somewhat similar to Ryan & Deci's self-determination theory (2000) as well as potentially conflated with or entangled within the concept of ambition is that of "self-efficacy" (Bandura, 1977, p. 193). Coined by Bandura, this durable construct is central to several clinical as well as vocational approaches to help individuals manage behavior change and outcomes (Bandura, 1977; Bandura, 1982; Lent et al., 1994). In summary, self-efficacy theory indicates that individuals make judgements about their own perceptions of their ability to

successfully execute actions or achieve certain outcomes (Bandura, 1977). These beliefs cause individuals to exert more (or less) effort towards outcomes which, in turn, has a significant effect on the achievement of that outcome in question (Bandura, 1982). Beliefs of efficacy arise from "performance accomplishments, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, or emotional arousal" and vary according to dimension of magnitude, generality, and strength (Bandura, 1977, pp. 194-395). Bandura later elaborates on the concept of self-efficacy noting it has a key role in determining "... goals and aspirations, outcome expectations, ... and perception of impediments and opportunities in the... environment" (Bandura, 2006, p. 309).

Self-determination and self-efficacy may seem like two phrases for the same concept yet, they are distinct in the literature. Self-determination theory (SDT) is comprised of the three factors of 1) autonomy, 2) competence, and 3) relatedness that drive an individual's potential lack of motivation (extrinsic or intrinsic) levels (Sweet, Fortier, Strachan, & Blanchard, 2012). Alternatively, Bandura's self-efficacy theory (SET) is a task-specific form of behavioral intention with an outcome expectation component (Bandura, 1977).

Though similar in many ways, the key difference, according to Sweet et al, (2012) is the location and nature of agency within each model. Specifically, in SET, behavior is initiated when individuals feel able whereas, in SDT, there is a greater emphasis on the individual's autonomy, referring to the perceived situational support of the environment regarding choices and subsequent enablement of a potential decision (Sweet et al, 2012). Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 2001), in which the idea of agency in which one has the ability to make purposeful, self-directed changes as a result of cognitive process and action is a key element to effect actual changes in behavior and outcomes is the concept that is reflected in Bandura's extension of self-

efficacy as well as in Deci & Ryan Self-determination theory via the key element of autonomy, expressed as "a perceived locus of causality" (Bandura, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 2000, p. 70).

Both self-efficacy and self-determination concepts have inputs and outcomes reflected in the concept of ambition and are related, and potentially confounding, concepts. Ambition invokes personal aspirations, task perseverance as well as personal investment which are likely related strongly to intrinsic motivation levels while the external indicators of outcome validation and social situation reflect strongly on the social psychology roots of both models (Bandura, 1977; Field, 2002; Sweet et al., 2012). As such, both self-efficacy and self-determination are likely to be instrumental in understanding the related-but-distinct and separate concept of ambition.

The Continuum of Constructs

In further consideration of what ambition is or what it means to be described as ambitious, it is important to think about the underlying construct of what is being described. Common words that have distinct meaning in the field of personality psychology are concepts such as "mood" or "attitude" (Watson, 2000) which can reflect elements of the ambition concept yet do not fully capture what it means to be ambitious in terms of durability or malleability. In considering the question of psychological construct level of ambition, it seems to be situated as both more a complex and enduring concept than either an emotion or a single behavior yet is more pervasive and durable than attitude or mood though it is somewhat less comprehensive than the level of personality (Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012). To give additional clarification, on one end of such a psychological construct continuum, Azjen (2001) indicated that an attitude is a "summary evaluation" (p. 28) that has an object. Thus, a person one can have an ambitious attitude, yet the concept of ambition generally operates on a level that is thought of a being broader and more durable than an attitude. Rather, when describing someone as being ambitious, this

characterization points to a stickier, more stable level of construct, much more like that of personality rather than what an attitude and the even more transient psychological affective concept of mood elicits (Watson, 2000).

At the other end of the psychological construct continuum from mood, perhaps the most stable, enduring high-level construct that reflects the lens through which one consistently and regularly views and interact with the world around us is the construct of personality (Ardelt, 2000). Though ambition seems to be more enduring in nature than an attitude, it is a somewhat less wholistic and comprehensive construct than the level of personality yet, is more than what might be labeled a facet of one personality based on Five-Factor Models (Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012). Specifically, Judge & Kammeyer-Miller call ambition out as a "middle-level trait" very similar to but not quite as durable or stable as typical personality factors and more contextual in nature (2012, p. 759).

These middle-level traits connect the generality of higher-level traits with the concrete action of behavior (Cantor, 1990). In a similar vein, Siegling et al., (2019) note a "limited degree of shared variance with [Big 5] personality [elements]" (p. 6). And, in reference to ambition's relationship to the construct of personality, Jones et al., (2017) attest that current personality models, "...do not ignore ambition; they obscure it" (p. 12).

Personality

People have a remarkable range of personality and, even in the broad swathes of arguably similar personalities, there is a range of expression that can vary by situation. Despite this range of individual differences, people generally often have remarkably stable and consistent tendencies of interaction with their environment and with one another (Boyle et al., 2008). This is the definition of personality and, though ambition is arguably not a primary factor of the

dominant 5-factor view of personality, it is expressed as a similar, stable, and related construct (Jones et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012).

The Five Factor Model (FFM) of Personality is the widely accepted, dominant personality construct as it represents a convergence of the literature (Block, 2010; McCrae, 2010). The Big 5 represent the five personality traits summarized by the OCEAN acronym popularized by Costa & McRae (1992) as being openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism. Classified as a "trait theory" which "focuses on specific characteristics rather than typologies of people" (Hogan & Smither, 2001, p. 27), personality is assessed by such tests as the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) (Hathaway & McKinley, 1943), the California Personality Inventory (CPI) (Gough, 1948), and the Sixteen Personality Factor Questionnaire (16PF) (Cattell & Stice, 1957) (Hogan & Smither, 2001).

Goldberg (1990) provides an excellent historical detailing of how the five factors were initially established by the lexical approach conducted by Allport and Odpert's in their seminal 1936 work. In total, Allport and Odpert (1936) took 18,000 descriptive words from the English dictionary of the time which they distilled into about 4,500 stable traits into four categorical lists containing neutral "trait" descriptive words, mood or temporary emotional terms, evaluative terms, and miscellaneous descriptive terms. Approximately ten years after this seminal and, at the time, exhaustive manually calculated cluster analysis, Goldberg (1990) notes that Cattell (1943) advanced matters as he further divided the list of traits into 35 clusters of bi-polar terms that aptly provided a term by which someone might describe another person (Goldberg, 1990). In analyzing these by factor analysis such that the least number of unrelated terms appear (i.e., orthogonal rotation), five factors emerged. Despite this simplicity of having just five factors, it should be noted that when more advance mathematical methods (i.e., oblique rotation) were

utilized, up to 12 factors emerged (Goldberg, 1990). The different outcomes by alternative methods of analysis reinforces the idea presented by McCrae (2010) that "comprehensive does not mean exhaustive" (p. 58). Though the five factors can be viewed as accurate and thorough, there are alternatives that succeed in explaining a greater extent of variance in personality.

Though there are other models of personality theory, the Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (Hogan, 1982) was selected based upon its robust underpinnings as well as it practical value in the vocational space. The foundation of this model is aligned with the consensus view in personality models which are based on or originates from the Five Factor Model (FFM) (Block, 2010; McCrae, 2010; Parks-Leduc et al., 2015). SAM began with the fundamental model of five factors which Hogan and Holland (2003) evolved to utilize a sevenfactors model based on a split of the extraversion trait into two factors of ambition and sociability and, the openness trait into creativity (labeled intellectance) and school success. Though still congruent with prior five-factor models, this seven-factor adaptation following a revised factor analysis allows enhanced explanatory power as a result of better alignment with the dual motives of "getting ahead" and "getting along" as a biological basis of how and why people behave as they do (Hogan & Holland, 2003, p. 100; Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30). In general, the trait factors of emotional stability (neuroticism), conscientiousness, and agreeableness align and predict "getting along" behaviors while traits of emotional stability, Extraversion (via ambition), and openness (via intellectance) concur with "getting ahead" behaviors featured in the Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (Hogan & Holland, 2003, p. 100).

The Socioanalytic model of personality features aspects of personality labeled as personality traits along with one's motives and values, developed abilities, and the stories that make sense of one's self and situation. These are the units of analysis that interact with the

situated roles-in-culture that form an integrated model of personality in context of a dynamic environment and are thus explicitly incorporated into a holistic consideration of how a person interacts with others and the work environment (Roberts, 2006, p. 6).

Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (Hogan, 1982) is situated in the overarching recognition themes of the biological basis of the theory that people are social animals and thus always live and work in groups and further, these groups are always structured within a hierarchical system of belonging. This context results in two broad motive drives, the drive to "get ahead" and the drive to "get along" (Hogan & Holland, 2003, p. 100; Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30). While not to be dismissive of McClelland's psychological needs of power and achievement, there is alignment with Hogan's more inclusive Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (Hogan, 1982; McClelland, 1961), also later referenced as the Socioanalytic Model (SAM) [of Personality] (Hogan & Holland, 2003). An added benefit of this is the influence of the views of humanistic theories of motivation incorporated into Hogan's theory which attest to the urge of the human situation to "make sense of it all" (Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30) as a dominant theme of personality and motivation (Frankl, 1984; Hogan, 1983).

A key feature that researchers and practitioners have been seeking since the 1950's or even before is a functional conceptualization of the interplay between personality, values, and the work environment (Spranger, 1953). This effort was thwarted as those values often aligned with personality traits, there were combinations that simply did not up to a unifying or consistent theme as certain traits lines up with certain values and not others (Parks-Leduc et al., 2015). Thus, the SAM (Hogan, 1982) seems to acknowledge the role of both the environment as well as agentic and determinate individual factors that contribute to a complex interaction and hard-to-predict but easy-to-understand practical outcomes.

As a unifying framework, SAM (Hogan, 1982) seems more than adequate as it provides a means to reconcile both values and personality traits within a broader conceptualization. In prior efforts to correlate values with personality, results are problematic as there is often no clear conceptual framework yet values figure prominently as a construct in belief systems and subsequent behavior or intentions (Furnham et al., 2005; Kuznetsova & Ibragimov, 2016; Parks-Leduc et al., 2015; Roccas et al., 2002).

These issues are substantially resolved by the application of the SAM (Hogan, 1982) in which the concept of values is baked-in to a workable theory that can be used to better understand human behavior (Roberts, 2006). SAM explicitly states that people will seek out roles and organizations in they are either fit (or can tolerate) or they will, over time, work to modify themselves or their situation (Roberts, 2006). How they view the situational fit is predicted by personality as well as values which further serve the purpose of describing how a person might respond to both tasks in the workplace as well as their efforts to change it (Dawis & Lofquist, 1976).

Ambition at Work

The three universal motives of the human condition are to "get ahead, to get along, and to make sense of it all" (Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30). In considering these goals and where adults spend most of their time, the workplace is the location for many of these goals to unfold. Entry into the US workforce is typically preceded by at least compulsory education through the 12th grade and, often, by some completion of the higher education process. With this, individuals are often exposed to at least some elements or vocational guidance as the focus of education is often stated in terms of vocational interests or potential aptitude as well as economic value to oneself as well as to the various levels of a global economy (Parsad et al., 2003).

According to pioneering vocational scientist Frank Parsons, "No step in life, unless it may be the choice of a husband or wife, is more important than the choice of a vocation" (1909, p.3). While work provides a certain economic return, it also serves as a source of multiple additional functions (indicated in Table 4).

 Table 4

 Description of the Purpose of Work

Concept Description	Theorist
Source of need fulfillment	Maslow
Source of public identity	Lent & Brown
Source of self-concept	Super
Source of group identity	Lent & Brown
Source of existential meaning	Csikszentmihalyi

Note: Summarized from "Understanding and facilitating career development in the 21st century", by R. Lent & S. Brown, 2013, in S. Brown, and R. Lent, (Eds.). *Career development and counseling: putting theory and research to work* (pp. 1-26). Copyright 2013 by John Wiley & Sons.

These various functions serve to underscore the dominance of the work concept in the modern world and the importance of the choices of individuals to pursue various lines of work as well as the organizational settings in which many of these choices unfold. Considering this, there are several theoretical perspectives that give insight and application to the work choices and career development of individuals.

Social Cognitive Career Theory

One dominant career theory presently in use that incorporates many elements of prior models is Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT) (Lent, 2013; Lent et al., 1994; Leung, 2008). SCCT incorporates values and interests, the dynamic interaction of the situational environment, as well

as notions of career success and satisfaction regarding vocational choices (Lent, 2013). Modeled as an extension and application of Social Cognitive Theory framework, SCCT initially postulated three interconnected elements of 1) career interests, 2) academic and career choice options and, 3) persistence and performance in selected pursuits are the areas in which individuals exert agentic choices that guide their career development (Lent et al., 1994).

The first element of SCCT (Lent, 2013) also notes the dominance of interests as a key determinant of career direction in terms of positive choices in process such as academic or vocational preparation and outcomes such as employability, wages, or other factors. Interests provided the topical framework for what is likely the first scientific treatise on vocational guidance in the form of the seminal text, *Choosing a Vocation* (Parson, 1909). Parsons indicates that, aside from choosing a spouse, there is likely no more important decision in life than choosing a vocation to which one is well adapted (Parsons, 1909). Since that time over 100 years ago, even in the wake of a protean work environment that has evolved over the last few decades, this advisement holds as wise counsel. To discover the occupation to which one is well-adapted, some rigor applied to the question of one's interests, aptitudes, and abilities is a logical place to begin.

In terms of interest models, the work of Holland (1966) resulted in the idea that, as a result of "complex interaction of cultural and personal forces…", people can be accurately categorized into favoring one or more personality types of Realistic, Investigative, Artistic, Social, Enterprising, or Conventional known as RIASEC (Nauta, 2013, p. 56). This framework casts an enduring, influential shadow that aligns, co-exists, and even validates other assessments. The dominance of the Holland RIASEC model is based on its robust replicability and extendibility to related constructs such as personality or values (Nauta, 2013). The RIASEC model is generally

construed as a hexagon to illustrate six different anchoring dimensions. Though studies indicate that it is possible to have more or even fewer than six categories, at least one study found a uniform distribution of titles across categories (Tracey & Rounds, 1995).

In addition, it is possible to layer two additional dimensions on top of the hexagonal RIASEC model (Holland, 1966) (Tracey & Sodano, 2013, p. 158). The first is Prediger's argument that the two dimensions of people vs. things or, data vs. ideas, underlie the RIASEC circumplex is conceptually simple and adds a conversational dimension to interests (Tracey & Rounds, 1995). Secondly, Hogan's broad classification using "sociability" vs "conformity" as useful constructs that "are common to various... type theories and associated with occupational choice" (Hogan 1982, p. 69). In summary, interests been upheld as a valid means to both conceptualize and actualize research of vocational interests as well as serve as an integral aspect of additional theories of human behavior (Tracey & Sodano, 2013).

As indicated, SCCT is an extension of Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) (Bandura 2001). SCT has, as its centerpiece, employed the concept of self-efficacy as a primary means to explain and predict individual behavior (Lent & Brown, 2013b). As noted previously, self-efficacy is the cognitive mechanism which captures the idea that individual's belief that their own efforts can be successful as a basis for effective behavioral change (Bandura, 1977). SCT also depends on the idea that persons are "agentic", that is, they also exercise substantial free will and causation upon their own circumstances via being "self-organizing, proactive, self-reflecting, and self-regulating" (Bandura, 2001, p. 266). Thus, in a break from dominant behavioral school theories of the time in which behavior was largely considered to be the result of simply reflexive reactions to stimuli, Bandura posits it is the complex interaction of personal cognitive factors

such as one's knowledge or attitudes, behavioral factors such as skills, and environmental factors such as social norms or other influences (Pajares, 2002).

A central feature of SCT (Bandura, 2001) is that these forces act reciprocally to create, enhance, or diminish one's self-efficacy within the situated contextual environment in which they exist (Bandura, 1977). The belief that change is possible creates motivation for behavior which results in a change in outcomes and modulates the behavioral response towards or away from environmental factors such as social interactions or structural elements that can present reinforcing or diminishing influences (Lent, 2013). Thus, the concept of self-efficacy is a key element of SCCT as, in combination with outcome expectations, it is both a driver and moderator of one's interests and environment interactions (Lent, 2013). To clarify, to paraphrase the cliché quote of famed automobile innovator, Henry Ford, among others, "if you think you can or if you think you can't, either way, you are right" (Quote Investigator, 2015) is reflective of the power of self-efficacy. Specifically, the interests that someone shows in a particular vocation are shaped by belief in ability to successfully complete principal tasks and duties of that job. Further, this belief in an ability to successfully complete these duties further shapes interests.

Subsequently, Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory forms the basis for Lent's Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT) which gives insight into initial and ongoing career decisions throughout their lifespan (Lent, 2013; Lent et al., 1994; Patton & McMahon, 2014). Specifically, SCCT represents both content theory, that is, individual and situational factors, as well as a process theory, that is, the evolution and interaction of the environment and personal factors (Patton & McMahon, 2014). The SCCT model specifies four overlapping concepts that form the basis for career outcomes: 1) interests, 2) choices, 3) performance and outcomes, and 4) satisfaction (Lent, 2013). A key consideration of this model is that it is not linear, rather, it

reflects complex interactions between all elements that both evolve over time and situations for explanatory power (Lent et al., 1994, p. 93). Further underscoring the value of the SCCT model is the overarching consideration of the interaction between individual and situational factors. This is specifically called out in the area of high-potential employee selection in organizational settings as, in the context of career development, the abilities and capabilities that an individual has are general recognized as having native individual components such as intelligence, emotional stability, or leadership skills that are shaped by assignments, roles, and situations.

Talent Management & Career Development

The idea of "talent management" is alternatively associated with either "the practices associated with lifetime careers in corporations" (Capelli & Keller, 2014, p. 306) or, simply a more empowered sounding iteration of the usual human resource function (Capelli & Keller, 2014). In either case, the emphasis on selection, placement, development, and succession activities of human capital assets are underscored regarding their importance (Chambers et al., 1998; Schuler, 2015; Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017) despite there being no clear consistent definition of "talent management" in a survey of 62 peer-reviewed journal articles (Thunnissen et al., 2013).

Meyers and van Woerkom (2017) indicate that how an organization approaches talent management may likely have a greater effect than what the actual practice of selection, development, progression, and retention. Specifically, if an organization is of the belief that talent is scarce, they will act in accordance with the assumption that high-potential talent is even more scarce and resources to develop such potential, if it can be cultivated at all, must be carefully distributed to among a comparatively exclusive group (Collings & Mellahi, 2009; Huselid, 2005; Meyers & van Woerkom, 2017). This can be contrasted with a bottom-up

approach in which talent can be developed or grown rather than hunted, implying a wide, easily grown supply rather than a limited and elusive supply of talent (Collings & Mellahi, 2009; Lepak & Snell, 1999). Whether grown, hunted, bought or rented, field of talent management-slash-career development exhibits and elicits viewpoints evocative of a wide variety of disciplines ranging from psychology, economics, sociology, education, and more, and is often interdisciplinary in its approach (Baruch & Peiperl, 2000).

Additionally, the practical approaches that are common in industry, despite recurrent themes, belie a wide variety of inconsistent practices and programs (Huang & Tansley, 2012). Though formal academic theory is not prominent, trade journal articles with a less theoretical and more practical tone featuring several best practices are far more common (Evans, 2017). Further, an examination of these types of works reveals several common themes such as strategic, aligned, integrated, and global as common elements (Hunt, 2014; Israelite, 2010; Rothwell, 2012; Stahl et al., 2012).

In light of some agreement on general HR functions for talent management professionals, the idea that if people want to move ahead or go up the corporate ladder, identifying and actively managing talent to match the goals of the organization with the abilities and potential of individuals ought to be of strategic importance (Rothwell, 2012). Indeed, recruiting is often considered the first strategic step in a full-cycle talent management program (Boštjančič & Slana, 2018; Lawler, 2017; Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017). This continues as a continual process in which aligning the desires of the individual regarding career development, progression, and potential with the needs of the organization's goals is a case of shared priorities and potential mismatch (Schein, 1978). Though there is a natural opportunity for alignment, there is also a potential miss as talent management professionals are often much more focused on

organizational priorities rather a shared or collaborative perspective (Evans, 2017; Lawler, 2017). This concept of "the organized, formalized planned effort to achieve a balance between the individuals career needs and the organization's work-force requirements" is in fact the very definition of "career development" (Leibowitz et al.,1986, p. 4). Though often interchangeable, the literature shows a tendency that talent management is more reflective of the organizational or managerial perspective, while career development and progression is often seen as the individual or customer perspective of these same practices.

Reconciling both an organizational and individual perspective, it may be that the front-line managers who are known to be the mediators of aspects of organizational policy, practice, and culture (Chiaburu & Lim, 2008; Gill, 2008; Kane-Urrabazo, 2006; Whitener et al., 1998) play a "...pivotal role when it comes to conveying messages to employees with regard to their career prospects, holding career conversations that stimulate employees to think about their career values and ambitions, and communicating this information back to HR management" (De Vos & Cambré, 2017, p. 501). Thus, managers are literally caught in the middle of the organization as arbiters of the talent development goals of the organization and the career development goals of the individual.

A Shift in Modern Career Development Approaches

Though organizations provide a wide variety of talent development functions, from the perspective of the individual, these same actions in the form of career development are important to attract more talented individuals, provide increased job satisfaction, retain good employees by reducing turnover, and provide increase organizational effectiveness and financial results (Walton, 2017). No matter the talent management practice or the if the time period is 2020 or

19xx, talent management and career development efforts within an organization strongly reflect both the national culture as well as the specific culture of any given organization (Schein, 1985).

Further developments over time reflected in literature is a shift represented in the protean or boundaryless career that situates the employee as the principal driver of their career over that of the organization (Arthur, 1994; Hall & Moss, 1998). Thus, through this popular view, the individual is viewed as "the primary actor in career management" (De Vos & Cambré, 2017). While not under emphasizing the importance and the context of the organization, the view of individual agency underscores the value of an approach such as SCCT in which self-efficacy figures prominently in development of the theory (Lent & Brown, 2013b). Such understanding is also aligned with current practices in which multiple sources note that where there is a gap between the ambitions and skills that employees want to have or develop, and those that organizations are failing to provide opportunities to learn or practice are a primary reason for strong performers to be searching for their next position, often in another organization, while presently employed (Hamori et al., 2012; MacRae & Furnham, 2014).

Though SCCT emphasizes the individual as agentic, more recent literature on career theory indicates the emergence of the "Chaos Theory" which is built on "four cornerstone constructs: complexity, change, chance, and construction" (Bright & Pryor, 2011, p. 163). It should be noted that Chaos Career Theory does not negate SCCT but, in an era of increasing rapid change and complexity, traditional person – environment fit models are deemed adequate only in a stable environment (Bright & Pryor, 2005). As SCCT evolved from social cognitive theory, it represents both elements of content- and process-factors (Patton & McMahon, 2014) that on a macro level, "appear to have a degree of stability" while on a micro level of any given individual in any given situation at any given moment, "lack predictability" and thus are best

characterized as "chaotic systems" (Bright & Pryor, 2005, pp. 292-293). Such a theory reflects a reality that "70% of a large sample of university students reported that their careers were significantly influenced by unplanned events" (Bright & Pryor, 2005, p. 296), far too large a ratio to have too much faith in behavioral intention, planned career interests and pathways, and even preparation.

Talent Management Practices

Despite this range of theoretical inputs, a survey of 194 organizations in 2000 provides both a number of common programs and practices and, more importantly, a means to frame the variety of practices across the dual continuums of high to low "sophistication" and "involvement" (Baruch & Peiperl, 2000, p. 359). Practices such as job postings or lateral career moves were characterized as low-sophistication and medium involvement and performance appraisals indicated by a moderate sophistication with involvement ranging from low (e.g., selfassessment or career opportunity written materials) to high (e.g., performance review with HR department and supervisor collaboration) (Baruch & Peiperl, 2000). Though these practices were from a two-decades aged research, recent industry reports yield similar though often technology-infused results that can exist within this framework. Common current practices note an ideal starting spot is to capture various job roles, levels, and families as a foundation from which development can be better targeted and aligned with organizational priorities (Werder et al., 2018). Further, practices that invoke various means of assessing and communicating employee performance, potential, and opportunity are exemplified by coaching, mentoring, high potential programs, job rotation, stretch assignments, and other programs are cited as common (Werder et al., 2018). Regardless of the program, Baruch and Peiperl's (2000) taxonomic

framework remains a valid means of conceptualizing the wide variety of practices and represent a range of activities, each inspired or colored by one or more of diverse disciplines.

As talent management can connotate the entire the range of activities in the full hire-toretire and everything in between, a focus on a few common programs that organizations utilize to develop talent are listed below:

- Stretch Projects Temporary work strategic assignments that are often at a higher level of authority, scope, or scale from where the employee normally works for the purpose of testing ability or getting exposure to a different part of the organization (Huang & Tansley, 2012; Werder et al., 2018).
- Geographic Mobility or Job Rotation A work assignment in a different location,
 often either at a headquarters, major office, or diverse global location to give
 exposure and possibly assess loyalty or commitment to the organization (Huang &
 Tansley, 2012; Werder et al., 2018).
- Coaching or Mentoring Though different types of coaching exist such as executive coaching, team coaching, performance improvement coach depending on the need and target, overall, this method is a resource intensive means to provide awareness, feedback, and ideas to employees as a means of development that is often, but not always, reactive (Roman, 2014). Mentoring is like coaching but is often, but not always, proactive works to create a highly personalized relationship with a junior employee to formalize a means of informal learning and development to an impressionable junior employee (Combs, 2014).
- Education or Certifications— Often the path to advancement is through completion of a formal education program such as a bachelors or graduate degree that the

organization endorses, provides time or funds to subsidize or perhaps communicates opportunities upon completion. (Werder et al., 2018). Similarly, certifications are typically shorter-in-duration and industry-focused means of career development that organizations may subsidize or promote participation (Werder et al., 2018).

- Team or Project Work Assignments These work assignments are generally a
 departure or addition to regular work duties in which collaboration, leadership, and
 other knowledge is gained as a result of participation (Werder et al., 2018).
- Assessments There are wide variety of assessments from peer-evaluations to formal annual performance review to more in-depth personality, intelligence, skill or other testing to identifying gaps and opportunities for development including high potential programs (Baruch & Peiperl, 2000; Huselid et al., 2005; Werder et al., 2018)

High Potential Programs

High potential program merit special attention as they are at the intersection of talent management and career development. These programs seem to epitomize several of the aspects of what it means to be ambitious as they focus on making developing the careers of those who have a combination of high performance and, even higher potential for future performance in strategic roles or "A Players" in strategic, value-adding roles (Collings & Mellahi, 2009; Huselid et al., 2005; Ruona, 2014). Though organizations almost certainly seek to develop, retain, and promote individuals that show the appropriate combination of performance and potential, so called "hi-po" programs began in earnest as a common talent management function in the 1990's (Schuler et al., 2011).

Employee Turnover

Turnover is the separation of an employee from the employment relationship with a given organization and may be voluntary or involuntary with voluntary separation accounting for 75% of incidents (Mahan et al, 2019). Turnover is a salient part of the full cycle of talent management and represents the endpoint of the employer-employee relations opposite from recruiting and onboardings in the talent lifecycle. Though much of talent professionals work is focused on getting the right candidate in the position, much of this effort may be a consequence of the work of talent management to develop internal candidates for promotion or other opportunities or, potentially the failure of talent management efforts to retain individuals in the organization which is a significant cost to US organizations at \$630 billion (Mahan et al, 2019). Despite the high price, most organizations fail to take a proactive or data-backed approach (Allen et al., 2010; Sears et al., 2017).

A noted issue with turnover research is the difference in predictability in moving from larger industry or even larger geographic contexts with data that predicts half or more of turnover despite being able to predict less than 15% of individual variance (Lee & Mitchell, 1994). This is supported by recent research indicating, in most cases, that there is no single profile of turnover or a means to address it at a level above that of a particular organization or location (Mahan et al., 2019; Sears et al., 2017). For example, key drivers of turnover at an organization in one location of a particular industry may not be similar to a different company in the same industry at the same location as the variables are often idiosyncratic to significant extent.

Despite this, on an individual level, Maertz and Griffeth (2004) arrive at eight motivational factors that, at whatever level turnover variables exist, most often play out as the decision by a single individual. These eight motives are an attempt to synthesize drivers of key

predictors such as low job satisfaction, compensation, the fulfillment of or violation of a psychological contract, or other factors that affect the intention or the decision to stay or leave an employer (Maertz & Griffeth, 2004). Regardless of the cause, though there are predictable best practices that emerge across the entire workforce, their implementation must be done in a way that aligns with the specific elements at work and specific constraints present (Mahan et al., 2019; Sears et al., 2017).

The Relevance of Ambition in a Career

Despite the breadth of SCCT and its strong basis on key psychological concepts such as personality and interests, the concept of ambition is largely absent from explicit, single-factor consideration. This is ironic as the "persistent and generalized striving for success, attainment, and accomplishment" are, on the face of it, central to career choices and satisfactory outcomes (Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012, p. 759). Despite not being noted explicitly, it is not unreasonable that the agentic aspect of SCT is highly aligned with personal ambition and drive. Higher levels of ambition would likely be closely correlated with the factor of goal persistence as well as social striving within performance domains to achieve at or above a certain contextual level. Consequently, it would be expected that greater ambition would correlate with greater success though, at exceptionally high levels, there may be evidence of a certain *lack* of satisfaction or, decreasing satisfaction, as they may always be in pursuit of more, higher, or greater achievement. Additionally, as certain careers are better suited to certain trait dispositions or personality types (i.e., extroversion to dealing with people), higher self-reported measures of ambition may likely be associated with occupations that require greater effort or associated with greater prestige or compensation. In the same way that those with *more* ambition might select career pathways requiring more effort or being more likely to be associated with certain levels of

achievement or status, a realization of the potential sacrifices or pitfalls of certain occupational choices could assist in helping individuals to self-select out of certain career pathways that do not align with their level of desired persistence or attainment.

Additionally, it is important to consider career development and related themes (such as ambition) from an organizational perspective. In the recruiting phase of talent management, attracting people with potential is one of the key goals of "having the right talent in the right roles at the right times" of the talent management organization (Silzer & Borman, 2017, p. 88). In consideration of potential, most medium and large organizations have a managed or strategic approach to the identification and development of high-potential employees, even if that is only a smaller segment or group such sales employees or managers (Kotlyar, 2018; Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009).

This identification of potential figures largely in talent management aspect of succession planning which, though it can refer to any position filling activity, generally refers to more senior roles (Boštjančič, & Slana, 2018; Mattone & Xavier, 2013). Despite the seeming importance of this task, only about half of organizations had a defined process and, only 20% utilized objective performance or potential assessing tools or techniques (Mattone & Xavier, 2013). Of those organizations that identify "potential" as a necessary descriptor, there is great variance as to "potential for what" with 35% defining it by role, 25% each by "level" and leadership "breadth" while 10% focus on simply past performance as the best indicator of future potential (Silzer & Church, 2009, p. 10).

While industry has some disagreement as to what exactly constitutes high potential, there is modest agreement regarding a desired prediction of future leadership capability over

current role and performance (Silzer et al., 2016). Though this varies by organization, 10 out of 11 models for the assessment of high-potentials include a variable on some aspect of motivation or a related concept which include verbiage such as ambition, aspiration, drive and other expressions of commonly associated with aspects of the ambition concept (Dries & Pepermans, 2012; Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009). Because of this, themes of ambition are readily present though the characterization of potential. One of the most common tools utilized to characterize potential in the workplace is the nine-box in which the dual axes of an employee's performance and potential are plotted (Dries & Pepermans, 2012; Lee, 2018). It is the factor of potential that causes issues as it is inherently harder to predict or assess than the lagging indicator of performance (Kotlyar, 2018; Silzer & Church, 2009).

Other methods of assessment of potential include personality assessments which either call out ambition as a factor (i.e., Hogan assessments) or it is otherwise baked in as in the case of typical FFM models (Mattone & Xavier, 2013). Additionally, simulations such as Mercer's TalentSim are noted as bona fide means of capturing elements of future performance in a present state as a means of assessing potential (Mattone & Xavier, 2013) while other methods include asking for nominations both by potential high potential candidates as well as by managers (Scott et al., 2010).

Though there are several methods by which one could assess or attempt to assess potential, in conjunction with the various issues noted, 50% of HR professional "lack confidence" in high potential programs (Burke et al., 2014, p. 3). This harkens back to the business cliché attributed to John Wannamaker in which he stated, "Half the money I spend on advertising is wasted; the trouble is, I don't know which half" (Bradt, 2016) in that

organizations, for the most part, despite a potentially significant allocation of resources and abundant effort do not have a consistent means to identify who has potential (Silzer & Church, 2009). In summary, this is not to say that such a system does not exist and that many corporations do have a system of identifying talent potential, only that there is no one agreed upon means that is touted to produce consistent results that industry professional can agree.

Assessing Ambition, Determining Potential

Though ambition is embedded in the assessment of potential, it is obscured within the broader concept of motivation (Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009) or personality (Jones et al., 2016). However, the salience of ambition is evident by career progression and development throughout the lifespan (Heckhausen, et al., 2017). Yet, despite the common presence of ambition (Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Jones et al., 2017; Siegling & Petrides, 2016; Wilcox, 2013) as a career-relevant concept, especially in achievement-oriented modern western cultures, it would seem that the concept has been significantly overlooked as evidenced by only 232 peer-reviewed articles in which ambition is noted in the title or as a keyword in the PsycINFO database (compared with 29,000+ for "motivation" or nearly 26,000 for "intelligence") in April of 2018.

There are a few accessible-via-the-internet assessments that include some measure ambition, most often as a facet of personality. However, instruments that have some noted authority accompanying them are quite few and, of those, the Hogan Personality Inventory (HPI) from Hogan Assessments is likely the most prominent as it specifically calls out "ambition" as a factor related to the "desire for status, power, recognition and achievement (Hogan & Hogan, 2007, p 15). The commercial success of Hogan Assessments can be noted by their use in "75%

of the Fortune 500" (Hogan Assessments, 2020, p. 1) as well as their substantial investment of \$15M in a new headquarters office building (Evatt, 2014).

The HPI aligns with Hogan's socioanalytic theory as the seven factors both evolved from dominant trait-based five-factor models and aligns with biological drives of getting along and getting ahead with specific vocational application (Hogan & Hogan, 2007). The HPI scales are specifically aligned to each factor to provide feedback to individuals on their "personality-based strengths", one of which is ambition (Hogan Assessments, 2019, p. 2). Ambition is specifically noted as a factor in recognition of the observable phenomena of "shy people who are ambitious" and "sociable people who are lazy" (Hogan & Hogan, 2007, p.15). Thus, the five-factor trait extraversion was overly inclusive and less useful prior to this split (Hogan & Holland, 2003). The ambition subscale queries respondents with self-rating items on six aspects of the ambition concept: competitiveness, self-confidence, accomplishment, leadership, identity, and social anxiety (Hogan Assessments, 2019). This analysis reconciles with a pragmatic approach noted by Hogan (1982) to underscore the HPI assessment as intended for the workplace with over 156,000 individuals representative of the entire US workforce (Hogan & Hogan, 2007).

An alternative assessment which does not seem to have widespread commercial use at the time of writing is Field's Workplace Ambition Assessment (WAM) (2002). During the development of the WAM instrument, five practical and distinctive themes emerged that are useful in characterizing the concept of ambition in career development (Field, 2002). A multifaceted view of ambition is deemed particularly advantageous as, in the context of organizations, managers who acknowledge multiple interpretations of ambition tend to not make assumptions about ambition from a single narrow view such as hours worked, availability, or other factors thus enabling employee agency to advance (Benschop et al., 2013). To elaborate

from a psychological perspective, Field conducted an analysis of instruments purporting to measure more psychologically defined constructs of ambition in the development of the WAM. These themes representing the one concept have five subscale items consisting of: "1) personal aspirations, 2) active and expressive engagement, 3) reliance on competitive and other external indicators for self-evaluation, 4) perseverance, 5) the degree of personal investment" (Field, 2002, p. 69). The five themes of the WAM were be utilized as the basis of a working definition of the ambition concept for this study that reflects and captures its true multifaceted expression across literature focusing on the expression of ambition in the workplace.

Summary

In summary, achievement and motivation are established related concepts relevant in the workplace. Achievement-orientation is more narrowly focused than ambition (McClelland, 1987; McClelland, 1961) and "motivation" is often incorrectly substituted for "ambition" as it represents more the direction or level and less the underlying rationale (McClelland, 1987; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). Also related are concepts of self-determination and self-efficacy as elements underlying ambitious actions or behaviors (Sweet, Fortier, Strachan, & Blanchard, 2012). Thus, like the psychological construct of personality, these elements t are relevant in the expression of ambition. Yet, ambition is *not* personality though it could be alternatively disentangled from the common five-factor model (Jones et al., 2017) or, alternatively, treated separately as a "middle-level" construct (Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012). As this study seeks to understand the value of ambition in the workplace, Chaos Career Theory (Bright & Pryor, 2003) could be seen as an extension of Lent's Social Cognitive Career Theory in complex, rapidly changing environments to provide an adequate understanding of the desires, intentions, and actions of the individual (Lent, 2013) as well as the actions of the organizational

professionals charges with executing the strategies of the organization against the talents and resources available (Chambers et al, 1998; Schuler, 2015; Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017). Though there are a variety of talent management practices (Huang & Tansley, 2012), the concept of high potential programs (Collings & Mellahi, 2009) is especially aligned with the understanding the value of ambition in the workplace and perhaps the greatest contribution this or subsequent research might contribute is a partial solution to the costly problem of turner, both form a organizational and an individual perspective. Finally, Field's Workplace Ambition Measure (2002) provides the multifaceted definition of the ambition concept necessary as a starting place from which to begin to assess its value in the workplace.

Chapter 3: Methods

The purpose of this chapter is to present the overarching philosophical approach that guided the methods by which the research question of understanding the value of ambition in the workplace was implemented in this research. In addition, this chapter will present information regarding participant selection and data gathering and interpretation processes and methods.

Given that it is unclear if or how ambition is valued in the workplace, the use of the philosophical tradition of the social constructivist lens is relevant as the research takes the perspective that the value of ambition, if any, will be substantially evaluated by its social and cultural relevance. Further, key theoretical underpinnings such as self-efficacy are solidly rooted in the constructivist perspective (Bandura, 1977). To gather data on the experiences of individuals in the workplace, the use of semi-structured interviews is an approach that is aligned with this philosophical approach (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013).

As such, this study utilized a qualitative research design in which 16 individuals were interviewed regarding their thoughts on the value of ambition in the workplace. To reach this sample, an "invitation to participate" letter from Dr. Michael Moore (see Appendix C) was sent to 212 business degree program students who had attended within the previous 18 weeks as of January 2021. The email from Dr. Moore to potential participant served the necessary purpose of sanctioning the work via an implicit organizational endorsement. Such a step on behalf of an organizational emissary is typically needed to bypass junk mail filters and to ensure thoughtful consideration. Only a comparatively small sample size was needed, as multiple sources indicate a high likelihood of "code saturation" occurring within a range of 12 to 15 participants (Guest, 2006; Hennink et al., 2017; Rijnsoever, 2017). All those who indicated interest by clicking on an embedded link in the email were directed to survey that included a study description, a consent

to participate form (see Appendix A) as well as basic screening questions (see Appendix F) and the WAM (see Appendix G).

Field's Workplace Ambition Measure (WAM) (2002) was including to better acquaint participants with the concept of ambition and was administered via electronic means prior to the scheduled interview as part of the preparticipation materials. For those that are willing to participate, the interview will review results of the WAM (2002) assessment and contain questions to seek input on their perceived utility of ambition in the workplace from both a managerial and organizational perspective. Interviews were conducted remotely and recorded electronically with the researcher taking notes during the interview process to facilitate a thematic analysis following transcription and comparison (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013).

Participants

Participants were selected that had at least two years of fulltime work experience to provide enough insight and perspective on their career and those proximal to them to have useful perspectives on the value of ambition in the workplace. Two years of experience is cited as the top end of the "time-to-optimal productivity" range by 75% of organizations (Oakes, 2012). Additionally, individuals were selected who had experience managing those who are between 30 to 50 years old. This range was selected on the basis that these individuals have stable personalities (Damian et al., 2019), a sufficiently developed career perspective, as well as an awareness of circumstance to make informed estimates of their potential in the workplace (Axelrod, 1999; Field, 2002). Further, they have likely not reached peak earning capacity (Perez, 2019) and have had sufficient time for their choices and actions to meaningfully impact career vectors and velocity prior to peak earnings, terminal organizational position, or retirement.

The selected individuals reflected multiple industries and organizations and thus multiple viewpoints on the concept of ambition in the workplace serve to enhance overall applicability, an element of validity (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). As ambition is posited to exist as a broad, universal concept (Hogan & Holland, 2003; Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30), representation from multiple organizations should not necessarily hinder the achievement of code saturation (Guest, 2006; Hennink et al., 2017; Rijnsoever, 2017). To access potential participants, the Chief Academic Officer of the University of Arkansas who also serves as the chief administrator for eVersity, University of Arkansas System's low-cost, online bachelor's degree program for working adults was contacted for permission to solicit participation from their student population for business degree programs. Though this population represents one that is convenient to the researcher, it should not be viewed as a "convenience sample" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015, p. 98) as it represents the targeted or purposeful sampling of "theory-based sampling" (Patton, 2002, p. 238; Savin-Baden & Major, 2013, pp. 314-315) as this population is compromised almost exclusively of working adults who are exhibiting behavioral elements of the ambition concept due to their educational and career aspirations. Additionally, an approximate 50/50 gender identity was a targeted measure to allow for the possibility of differential expression or perception of the value of workplace ambition based upon the gender.

Informed Consent Procedures

Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval (see Appendix A) was obtained prior to any contact with potential participants. Potential interviewees who completed the initial request for information and IRB informed consent were then followed up via email with a brief description of the research with the true statement of purpose, "to understand the value of assessing ambition in the workplace", as well as a link to schedule a time for interview via the

Calendly application. Once scheduled, interviews were conducted at the designated time and began with an additional high-level review which noted, 1) the session was being recorded, 2) they could stop at any time for any reason, and 3) asking if they had any questions regarding their participation. Once these items were address, the structured interview began.

Individuals were recruited to participate via an email from Dr. Moore which contained a brief description of the undertaking, informed that there would be no consequences for opting in or out, and those who were willing were asked to provide contact information and given additional information as well as the IRB-approved initial consent to participate form. It was assumed that not all potential participants would be able to participate in light of work demands, schedule conflicts, or they may simply not be interested once they learned more. The first 16 that respondent affirmatively for participation and scheduling were selected with the only researcher induced bias of working to achieve balanced participation in the overall study with regard to gender, as the opportunity to balance participation incidentally arose. Though the first announcement of the study generated rapid responses, it was insufficient to reach the minimum initial desired range of 12-15 participants so a second, reminder invitation was sent by Dr. Moore which yielded more than a sufficient number of candidates with 16 qualified participants responding and completing pre-interview materials.

It was noted that in the published results, subjects will be identified only by a number and the participating organization will only be represented by industry type aligned with standard North American Industry Classification (NAICS) coding system (US Census, 2020) in the most generic of terms to convey relevant context. Also, all subjects were adults, no deception was present, participation consent forms (see Appendix A) for recording the interviews were utilized, and no adverse health, occupational, or other risks of participation were likely. Consent for the

use of the WAM was secured by the written permission of Dr. Cynthia Field (see Appendix B). In the wake of the global COVID19 pandemic, interviews were conducted remotely by Microsoft Teams remote videoconference and recording application with a concise review of the informed consent also recorded at the onset of the interview. Additionally, transcripts were provided to all participants for approval and as a means of validation via member checking (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013) with eleven of the sixteen participants responding affirmatively and the remainder giving no response.

Measures

Data gathered consisted of a pre-participation questionnaire (see Appendix F, p. 129) with a basic demographic profile including age, years of work experience, years of managerial experience, education, gender identification, organizational tenure, and number of individuals presently supervised. Also, measures from the WAM (Field, 2002) were utilized by participants (see Appendix G). All interviews were be recorded electronically and will be maintained by the author for a period of at least three years according to US Department Health & Human Services guidelines (45 CFR 46.115) which form the basis for Institutional Review Board Policies (HHS.gov, 2018; University of Arkansas, 2019). Storage of data will be on the author's password-protected personal computer as well as on a secure, University of Arkansas provided cloud-based storage platform. Interviews will be conducted electronically as in-person interviews are not feasible considering the global pandemic.

Research Design

The research design is qualitative with the specific techniques utilized being an assessment and a structured interview technique as specific questions will be posed though, the responses may be "followed" to allow for adequate inquiry and revelation when an additional

probe or prompt is given (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013). Philosophically, the research was conducted from a constructivist approach as the knowledge of that meaning will be elucidated through the experiences of the individual (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013). The constructivist approach is deemed to be a "central characteristic of all qualitative research as individuals construct reality in interaction" (Meriam & Tisdell, 2015, p. 24). This approach aligns well with the foundations of social cognitive theory as the power of the situation is a key determinant of behavior (Bandura, 2001). As a result of both the lack of research on the topic of the value of ambition in the workplace and the reliance on social-cognitive psychology, a qualitative approach is warranted. This process is likely generate to a convergence or saturation of thematic elements sufficient to generate an informed finding on the meaning and utility of ambition in the workplace (Meriam & Tisdell, 2015). Given this approach, aside from the indication that the topic of the study was ambition in the workplace, each participant was told that a debrief would occur at the end of the interview as the researcher did not want to give any information which would color the participant's lived experience. This note was recorded along with indications that the interviewee could cease participation at any time for any reason though the debrief following the interview was not recorded.

For qualitative interviews, there are no hard boundaries on the number of questions or the duration of the interview, however, following the boundaries imposed by the pragmatic approach, using as few questions as possible in the minimal amount of time should be the desired outcome. A recommendation is that face-to-face interviews generally not exceed a "...set of ten to twelve semi-structured questions... lasting about an hour" (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013, p. 369). Based on the author's experience with interviewing and discussing this topic in previous unpublished work, targeting 30 minutes per interviewee was a reasonable goal that was predicted

to be well received by interviewees and would still be under the guidance of 60 minutes should the interview last longer than expected.

The research questions were designed with the intent to assure a shared understanding of the concept prior to probing into the perceived utility of ambition to facilitate elicitation of key information. Familiarity and a deeper structure for the multifaceted concept of ambition will be derived from the review of the WAM (2002) assessment. Subsequent questions were designed to evoke dominant themes of ambition of these experienced employees in the context of their own perspective in the workplace.

Interview Questions

Section I – This section was intended to create a shared understanding of the ambition concept.

- 1. Review of the pre-interview WAM (2002) assessment noting the five themes, 1) personal aspirations, 2) active and expressive engagement, 3) reliance on competitive and other external indicators for self-evaluation, 4) perseverance, 5) the degree of personal investment (Field, 2002, p. 69)
- 2. Based on this information, how has your view of ambition in in the workplace changed?
- 3. Based on the WAM, to what extent do you think that adequately captures how you think about ambition?

Section II – This section was intended to evaluate the perceived utility of ambition in the workplace from the perspective of the employee with regard to both process and outcome.

- 1. As you developed professionally, how was your own ambition a factor in that?
- 2. To what extent, if any, was your ambition a factor that your supervisor or management in your organization considered? How?

- 3. From your view, how important is it to consider ambition as a factor in any of the areas of talent selection or acquisition, development, or performance management? Why or why not?
- 4. How would things be different or what would it be like if your supervisor or organizational management valued ambition more?

Section III – This section was intended to evaluate the perceived utility of ambition in the workplace from the perspective of one who manages others from the perspective of both processes and outcomes.

- 1. As you manage others, to what extent do you value or consider their ambition? How?
- 2. How is ambition valued in your organization?
- 3. How important is it to consider ambition as a factor in any of the areas of talent selection or acquisition, development, or performance management?
- 4. How important do you think the consideration of ambition is to desirable organizational outcomes such as engagement, productivity, retention?
- 5. How would things be different or what would it be like if you valued ambition more for employee you supervise?

Procedures

As the workplace is not a single homogenous setting, purposeful theoretical sampling will be utilized that is directed to a single group that represents multiple employers to establish a potential convergence of themes (Patton, 2002). The selection of participants was via purposeful sampling due to shared institutional membership characteristic as well as accessibility by the author. As experienced workers, participants will likely have characteristics which are representative of both a given industry as well as generalized experience to be able to express

nuanced and informed views on the topic of ambition in the workplace. Participants with two years of fulltime employment experience would allow sustained exposure to themes of ambition in the workplace and be able to provide insight. Two years of experience is cited as the top end of the "time-to-optimal productivity" range by 75% of organizations (Oakes, 2012). Given the desired age range of interviewees as being from 30 to 50, two years of experience should not present a significant barrier to participation. This range was also used to constitute sufficient experience from an employee perspective as well.

Despite there being "no rules for sample size in qualitative research" as a single "case" can provide meaning and utility, for major theme detection, it is necessary to achieve "saturation" (Patton, 2002, p. 244). Saturation occurs when enough sampling has occurred so that redundancy of themes, if a pattern were to be present, would likely occur (Galvin, 2015; Patton, 2002; Rijnsoever, 2017). For the technique of semi-structured interviews, an acceptable range for homogenous groups is six to 30 with "good consistency" as indicated by a Cronbach's Alpha of 0.7 or higher reached at 12 participants based on the analysis of one "typical" qualitative interview study (Galvin, 2015). These data align well with Hennink et al., (2017) which indicate code saturation occurring at nine participants and Guest, et.al. (2006) finding that redundancy occurs by the 14th interview. In light of all these inputs, a sample of 16 individuals was determined sufficient to both detect themes and patterns in both the ubiquity of the concept as well as be likely to pick up on theme variations that would suggest further research. This sample size was selected as first, it represented a number slightly greater than the minimum quantity needed to assure data sufficiency and completeness and secondly, as a matter of convenience as 16 willing-to-participate individuals who met the criteria for inclusion responded promptly to the solicitation for participation.

Following a positive response to the invitation to participate announcement, potential subjects were contacted via email with a brief overview of the research, a pre-participation participant questionnaire that included the WAM (2002) that will be delivered electronically via the Qualtrics survey platform as a means to introduce and familiarize participants with the multifaceted concept of ambition in the workplace. Additionally, this electronic communication included the IRB approved consent to participate for the potential participant to complete. The pre-interview questionnaire solicits basic information such as name and demographics including age and managerial experience. Once the pre-interview questionnaire and WAM (2002) are completed, the individuals were sent a link utilizing the Calendly scheduling application to schedule a 30-minute Microsoft Teams facilitated meeting.

While face-to-face interviews are often considered ideal in order to capture non-verbal cues or provide additional meaning (Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Savin-Baden & Major, 2013), in the wake of the current global COVID 19 pandemic (World Health Organization, 2020), a suitable web-enabled teleconference solution that provides both audio and video options is widely deemed to be an adequate alternative in most cases to face-to-face interviews (Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Savin-Baden & Major, 2013). The Microsoft Teams application was deemed to be the most viable option and allow the interviews to be simultaneously recorded and most importantly, presented no-risk to participants.

The interviews began with a very short introduction consisting of 1) an appreciation for their participation thus far, 2) indicating the session was being recorded, 3) noting that they may cease participation at any time for any reason and, 4) as the topic was focused on their experience of ambition in the workplace, a debriefing would occur at the end during as the researcher did not want to influence their views. At this point, the interview began with the

introductory questions in Section I which included a brief review of their WAM results and the multifaceted concept of ambition. Following this, all interview questions (see Interview Questions) were asked in the order listed for all participants. All results were be transcribed and analyzed using classical and thematic content analysis (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013). During the interviews, notes were taken to both capture and highlight emerging data observations deemed as particularly interesting or salient as well as to capture other aspects that might not have been as effectively rendered by an audio transcript.

Data Analysis

All results were be transcribed and analyzed using classical and thematic content analysis (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013). Though the findings will be "coded", it is important to note that "coding" is "...nothing more than assigning some sort of shorthand designation to various aspects of your data so you can easily retrieve specific pieces" (Merriam & Tisdale, p. 199). As each transcript was reviewed for each question, themes or other key findings were summarized as a "code" consisting of either specific pithy or apt quotes from respondents or "word or short phrase that symbolically assigns a summative, salient, or essence capturing, and/or evocative attribute for... data" (Saldaña, 2013, p. 3) and then distilled from multiple words or sentences into the smallest possible space that still retains distinctive interpretation or meaning. This inductive analysis (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013) was conducted digitally using a spreadsheet table array as a parallel to the classic analog "tabletop" process by which codes and themes are physically arranged and analyzed for patterns and themes (Saldaña, 2016, p. 230). Once captured in this atomic form in the spreadsheet cell, results for each question were iteratively sorted to "...identifying themes, categories, patterns, or answers to your research questions" (Merriam & Tisdale, p. 216). After this vertical sorting by question, these data were examined horizontally as

each participant's coded response exist as a row in the spreadsheet. The review of this data occurred by the elicitation of themes principally by structural and concept first cycling coding methods (Saldaña, 2016) as participant responses were generally straightforward and deemed to be not particularly complex or having veiled meaning or intent.

Basic descriptive statistics including age, sex, race, work experience, organizational tenure, education, years of managerial experience were compiled to provide demographic information from which overall patterns as well as patterns or trends by demographic or other factor (i.e., variance by industry, etc.) were examined for variant and recurrent codes by a second cycle pattern coding method (Saldaña, 2016).

To ensure validity, both methodological and interpretive controls were utilized (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Method-wise, the same process of a semi-structured interview with scripted questions, was followed for each participant. To help ensure interpretive validity, key themes were examined both horizontally across all participants for each question and vertically as each participant is treated as a single case from which dominant and recurrent themes might emerge. In addition, the dissertation advisor reviewed transcripts and summary data by peer examination to audit the primary researcher's findings (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013).

For internal validity, though qualitative research interpretation is fallible, the use of straightforward questions with overlapping and similar themes and the pursuit of seeking both managerial and employee perspectives on the value of ambition serve as a means of internal integrity check by means of "triangulation" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015, p. 244). To increase the reliability of findings, respondents were informed that no deception was present and that it is their experience which is relevant. Further, it was noted in consent materials that there are "no direct benefits are associated with this research" (Informed Consent document, Appendix A).

Each of these elements work to reduce participant motivation to provide responses that serve a purpose aside from an attempt to learn more about the lived experience of ambition in the workplace. Additionally, following each interview, the recording was stopped and the researcher reviewed the motivation for the study as well as provided additional context through conversation which created ample additional opportunity to consider the overall process and outcomes as consistent and address potential misunderstanding or misinterpretation through further contextual triangulation. These post-interview conversations with participants represent a means of working to ensure "adequate engagement in data collection" as "strategies for promoting validity and reliability" in the sometimes less clearly defined practice of the qualitative research process (Merriam & Tisdale, p. 246).

Finally, as a form of "respondent validation" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015, p. 246), each participant was emailed their verbatim transcript for the opportunity to review and remedy potential errors. This strategy for ensuring internal validity is labeled, "...the single most important way of ruling out the possibility of misinterpreting the meaning of what participants say... and the perspective they have... as well as being an important way of identifying your own biases and misunderstanding" (Maxwell, 2013, pp. 126-7). Despite all the rigor toward limiting bias, one reasonable question that would be suitable for future research if an inquiry that notes the topic of ambition creates a situation in which more ambitious subjects are more likely to respond and participate. If so, such as sample would perhaps induce self-serving biases. To reduce or eliminate this bias, it would be necessary to compel participation from those who might otherwise opt out of participation. For this inquiry, such a measure is out of scope though for future research, having a better understanding of baseline ambition averages and range would

be important steps that merit exploration that could have important consequences for many practical and research applications.

Summary

In summary, 16 individuals between the ages of 30 and 50 who are students in University of Arkansas eVersity program that had both two years or more of managerial experience representing a variety of industries and balanced gender mix opted to participate in recorded interviews on that sought the perspective of their lived experience of the value of ambition in the workplace. In light of both the distrusted location of participants as well as the ongoing COVID19 global pandemic, all interviews were conducted remotely. A variety of means including member checking, peer review, statements that noted "no deception" and "no benefit", as well as post-interview participant engagement were utilized to increase the validity and reliability of participant statements.

Chapter 4: Results

When there is a difference between the apparent reality of a situation and what one believes, when there is a seeming contradiction, the admonition to "check your premises" (Rand, 1957, p. 199) is good advisement. Such is the inspiration behind these interviews which attempt to reconcile the stated business necessity (Wilcox, 2013) of ambition with the noted lack of research on the topic (Jones, et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Siegling et al., 2019; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). Overall, the findings do not reconcile this apparent contradiction though there is strong endorsement of the value of ambition in the workplace from both a managerial and employee perspective as well as several insights and potential cautions with this important concept.

Demographics of Participants

A total of 16 working adults between the ages of 30 and 50 representing various industries and each having managerial experience were interviewed via recorded video in which they were asked twelve questions. A tabular summary of this data is presented in Table 5 (Age & Gender); Table 6 (Summary of Work Experience); and Table 7 (Summary of Participant Industries).

Table 5Summary of Participant Age and Gender

Age	Years	Gender	Response
Average	41.7	Male	6
Std Dev	4.1	Female	9
	•	Gender variant/Non-conforming	1
			16

Table 6Summary of Participant Work and Managerial Experience

Work Experience	Years	Managerial Experience	Years
Average	22.9	Average	9.7
Std Dev	5.8	Std Dev	5.6

 Table 7

 Summary of Participant Industries Represented

Industries Represented	Response
Healthcare	8
Something else not listed above	2
Education Services	1
Utilities	1
Information Technology	1
Manufacturing	1
Retail	1
Transportation/Warehousing	1

Though a wide diversity of industries is represented, healthcare is certainly disproportionately present with half of the participants being in this single industry. Despite this, one consideration is that healthcare, like many other industries, should likely not be viewed as a homogenous entity as there are a wide range of roles present including administrative, information technology, as well as roles more typically associated with the industry label in direct patient care. Though not captured in the participant survey, interviews did reveal a wider perspective than one might initially think given half of all participants indicated employment in this field. Further, of the eight participants, three were males and five identified as female representing additional diversity within the healthcare industry.

Finally, in terms of race, thirteen of the sixteen participants self-identified as "White – Non-Hispanic", one as "White – Hispanic or Latino", and two indicating "Prefer not to disclose".

Interview Protocol

Interviews were conducted and recorded via Microsoft Teams and later transcribed automatically by Trint, an artificial intelligence drive transcription service (trint.com, 2021). Trint-coded transcripts were then manually reviewed and corrected and sent to each participant as a means of validating content and transcription details with eleven of the sixteen opting to respond and only one interviewee indicating a single correction needed in which a name was auto-filled incorrectly.

Each interview followed a structured format, deviating as necessary to address any issues, rephrase or reword questions, and occasionally, when needed, to probe to ensure the question was addressed or to seek clarification. Each interview began with "housekeeping" details including noting that 1) the interview was being recorded electronically, 2) the participant could cease participation at any time for any reason, 3) the interviewer would also be taking notes, and that, 4) time would be allowed at the end to answer additional questions or provide insight into the topic or the rationale behind the researcher's interest in ambition in the workplace. The last item was deemed especially important as, given the constructivist nature of the inquiry, getting the uncolored views of the participants was deemed a priority and the researcher expressly sought to minimize the ingestion of bias into the process by putting forth his own beliefs or experience into the interview process. Consequently, recordings were stopped after the participants indicated they had no questions or additional input to maintain smaller file sizes for the researcher to work with and less extraneous material.

Participant Demographics & Interview Summary Data

The recorded interviews ranged from 13:39 to just under 50 minutes with an average of 24:37 (see Table 8), generally within the 30-minute targeted range and all under the more generous one-hour recommendation (Savin-Baden & Major, 2013). Interviews that ran short were attributed simply to interviews that were more concise in their responses while interviews that ran longer are attributed to those with more to say, those who asked clarifying questions, or simply provided additional information. Additionally, as noted previously, recording was terminated following the last question and notification to the participant at which time an informal conversation occurred for the purpose of communicating the motivation of the researcher. Though not recorded or considered part of the timed interview, these post-interview conversations typically lasted a few minutes and served the further purpose of allowing the researcher and participant to deepen engagement and provide additional context on the topic as well as the research process.

Table 8Summary of Interview Duration

Description	Time (minutes: seconds)	
Average Interview Length	24:37	
Minimum Value	13:39	
Maximum Value	49:40	
Median	23:16	
Standard Deviation	9:04	

Results of Interviews

The purpose of this qualitative research was to explore the following research questions by first establishing a shared understanding of a multifaceted concept of ambition and then exploring the following research questions:

- 1. Based on the WAM (Field, 2002), is ambition valued in the workplace from the view of the employee?
- 2. Based on the WAM (Field, 2002), is ambition valued in the workplace from the perspective of managers and supervisors?

Considering the noted lack of research on a seemingly common and potentially impactful facet of the employee experience, the purpose of the research was to bring additional insight to the value (or lack thereof) of ambition in the workplace from the perspective of the lived experiences of individuals who possess both an employee- and a managerial-perspective. On the pages following, key findings are summarized by interview question (presented in italics) first and then, when findings warrant, by second cycle patterns (Saldaña, 2016) of various demographic information collected in the pre-participation questionnaire.

Ambition, A Multi-faceted Concept

Section I – This section was intended to create a shared understanding of the ambition concept.

1) Review of the pre-interview WAM (2002) assessment presentation of the multifaceted ambition concept (Field, 2002, p. 69). Based on this, do you have any questions about the WAM or the idea of a multifaceted concept of ambition?

Perhaps the least revelational of all findings, 100% of participants indicated "no questions" after reviewing the WAM and discussing the idea of a multi-faceted concept of ambition.

Without exception, each participant accepted the idea that ambition should not have a singular focus. This "question" was introduced by telling participants that the purpose of the WAM assessment was not to score or rank them but only to familiarize them with the idea that ambition is not solely focused on perhaps more well-known achievement or competitive aspects but

encompassed aspirations, engagement, perseverance, and personal investment aspects as well (Field, 2002). Despite the intention being to inform rather than question, it was nonetheless surprising that universally, participants accepted this though, it should be noted, two participants (Respondents 4 and 8) were interested in their score and its meaning in terms of scoring high or low. For these participants, additional insight into the scoring was given including reverse scored items with messaging reinforcing the idea of intent to familiarize them with a multifaceted concept rather than ranking.

2) Based on this information, how has your view of ambition in in the workplace changed?

Twelve respondents indicated no change in how they considered ambition in the workplace based on the multifaceted ambition concept review. Of the remaining four, two noted that it induced introspection of aspects of ambition (Respondent 3 and 4) and one that it "piqued curiosity" (Respondent 12, 2021, 2:36). Noteworthy as the theme of situation-based influences on the expression of ambition will arise as a key theme later, two respondents noted potential situational impacts (Respondents 1 and 10). Of particular note, Respondent 1 indicated the potential impact of situation influences in this extended excerpt (2021, 1:55):

And I hadn't really thought about my own personal ambition for a while, to be completely honest. But one of the things that I did think about is, you know, in my current organization, at my current company, I don't have a lot of ambition to move up. I do have a lot of ambition to be successful, to do my best, to meet my goals, exceed my goals. But when it comes to wanting to move up within the company, my company is in a tough spot right now. We were just acquired by another company. We're going through a lot of changes, a lot of transition, a lot of integration. And so for me, it just feels like the wrong time to want to move up within the company. But I still have that ambition to still get my job done, help out my peers, help out my manager. So, it was interesting that I hadn't really thought about that before. But, you know, if I was at a different company or at this company three years ago, my answer might have been different because we might have been in a different environment where it felt easier to obtain. Not that it needs to be easy, but it's just... it just doesn't feel like the right time right now.

Following the debrief at the end of the recorded interview, the idea of the combined stresses at her organization in conjunction with the stresses resulting from the ongoing COVID19 global pandemic was noted as likely situational attenuators to the expression of ambition in the workplace.

3) Based on the WAM, to what extent do you think that adequately captures how you think about ambition?

All respondents were in agreement with four respondents (2, 5, 10, and 12) specifically noting or having introspective thoughts and two participants noted particular situational influences. Specifically, regarding situational influences, Respondent 6 indicated a strong belief in cultural attenuation or shaping of some elements of the expression of ambition while Respondent 11 noted the potential salience of gender in the expression of ambition it the workplace. As this was speculated to be a potential influence, her apt response is presented below (2021, 3:19):

...I don't know that it categorized some of the negative connotations that come with ambition sometimes, you know. And maybe that's just because I'm a woman. A lot of times when a woman is ambitious, it's not exactly smiled upon... it can be frowned upon depending on how she presents...

The Employee Perspective of the Value of Ambition

Section II – This section was intended to evaluate the perceived utility of ambition in the workplace from the perspective of the employee.

4) As you developed professionally, how was your own ambition a factor in that?

Without exception, 100% of respondents indicated that their ambition was a positive factor in their own professional development with eight (8) indicating some superlative phrasing in their response (i.e., "huge" or "110%"). Three of the sixteen noted a "nuanced" view in which their

endorsement of ambition as a positive factor was tempered by some other factor, other situational in nature such as a proximal manager that sought to keep employees "in their place" (Respondent 7, 2021, 11:09).

Worth noting is that two participants utilized the word, "drive" in their narration, a parallel to the Siegling and Petrides articles featuring the same lexicon which aligned this phrasing with the ambition concept and differentiated it from the oft conflated word, "motivation" (Siegling & Petrides 2019; Siegling & Petrides, 2016). Additionally, two participants utilized strong forward motion-oriented phrasing in their narration when one noted, "ambition propels performance" (Respondent 7, 2021, 4:21) and that ambition can "catapult" career progression (Respondent 12, 2021, 3:39).

5) To what extent, if any, was your ambition a factor that your supervisor or management in your organization considered? How?

In regard to how ambition was recognized from the employee perspective, respondents were nearly equally split between what might be considered to be "explicit primary", signifying or implying a direct causal link between the recognition of ambition and selection or career advancement and "explicit other" themes in which ambition was expressly valued but indirectly or as part of a more comprehensive array of factors. These codes were assigned based on the specific details and overall characterization of participant responses to this query and seem to capture all sentiment expressed with the exception of those that are labeled "negative or mixed". In these cases, a non-positive valuation of the concept was presented or one in which there was a nuanced or otherwise limited positive perspective presented by the respondent. In Table 9, examples of each of these are given to provide elaboration on the meaning of what each "looked like" in the workplace.

 Table 9

 Summary of Coded Excerpts for Management's Recognition of Ambition

Thematic Description	Example Interview Excerpts	Frequency
Explicit	"Extremely important" and credits it with getting him	7
Primary	is present role (2021, Respondent 4,19:19); "Yes, my	
	supervisor recognized me as a go getter and a self-starter" (Respondent 10, 2021, 9:57) or similar.	
Explicit	These are situations where ambition is recognized	8
Other	positively though not to the extent that it was deemed	
	solely responsible for role selection or is positive	
	recognition but not to the extent or with the	
	endorsement that it was solely (or nearly so) a factor or accompanied by a narrative in which its recognition was focused or nuanced.	
Negative or	Included in this characterization is the one "negative"	2
Mixed	recognition of ambition by a manager that, "wants us	
	always to remember our place" (Respondent 2, 2021,	
	11:09) and one situation in which conflict was initially	
	present due to perceived competitive pressures	
	(Respondent 13, 2021, 6:22).	

6) From your view, how important is it to consider ambition as a factor in any of the areas of talent selection or acquisition, development, or performance management? Why or why not?

Universally, all respondents expressed positive belief that ambition is a factor in one or more areas of talent management with several (five) noting a superlative response and three noting a qualification or nuance in their response such as it being role- or situation-based (two) and one noting it is "important to a point" (Respondent 6, 2021, 27:30). Example of such "superlative responses" include, "It's very important actually. I ask every one of my applicants what their ambitions are ... I need people who are hungry" (Respondent 11, 2021, 8:40); "hugely important... I want people to learn and to want to learn and grow" (Respondent 2, 2021, 12:49); "absolutely key" (Respondent 10, 2021, 2:27); and, perhaps most aptly of all, Respondent 1 (2021, 8:17):

Anyone can have marketable skills, anyone can have talents, anyone can have a degree. Anyone can have, you know, knowledge of a certain software product. But if they don't have the ambition to actually get out there and do the job, get it done, you know, get it done well, get it done by the time it needs to be done, then they're not going to be successful...

7) How would things be different or what would it be like if your supervisor or organizational management valued ambition more?

This is a particularly interesting question in that it queries a potential end-state by pushing respondents amplify the behaviors or outcomes of ambition in the workplace which brings insight and potential clarity to its value. In response to this query, only one participant noted a negative outcome (Respondent 6). Upon further probing, it was discovered that this respondent distinguished between their own ambition and that of the manager noting, "it would be... a downfall" (2021, 31:13). This is particularly insightful as, to some extent, it reflects the comments of Respondent 7 in a previous question noting the importance of the manager in being willing to consider or advance the ambitions of employees over their own egoistic ambitions to "keep people in their place" (Respondent 7, 2021, 11:09).

Rather, the overwhelming majority of respondents (13) noted many elements of increased communication, employee engagement, recognition, development, and other positive outcomes while three participants indicated an "unsure" response further revealing that it was already highly valued (Respondents 10, 13, and 14).

A Managerial Perspective on Ambition

Section III – This section was intended to evaluate the perceived utility of ambition in the workplace from the perspective of one who manages others.

8) As you manage others, to what extent do you value or consider their ambition? How?

Unanimously, all 16 participants noted they valued ambition in the workplace from the perspective of their own lived experience as a manager. This endorsement of value ranged from participants giving responses that were characterized as "unqualified strong positives" to simply "positive" responses, several of each often noting a qualifier such as life-stage or situation or a specific example or application of how they valued ambition.

As an example of a "unqualified strong positive", the response from Respondent 10, "I encourage that... every employee I've ever hired... always a telling sign of someone that's moldable and teachable." (2021, 10:05). Alternatively, Respondent 9 noted she valued ambition but that it may vary based on the type of work or immediate situation when faced with a situation in which she was hiring entry-level call-center employees and that though "corporate" valued ambition as evidenced by slogans and other cultural artifact, "it wasn't successfully done" (2021, 12:10) as it didn't seem to extend or apply to that role as much as perhaps the headquarter location. Respondent 1 indicated that it she valued it, "a lot" and, similarly to Respondent 9, that were "…several situations where I looked for that" implying a situational element to the valuation of ambition.

Also, in some cases, participants noted specifically why they valued ambition as when Respondent 2 noted she and others in the organization greatly valued it with a further specification that, "I wanted them to challenge and to be able to bring ideas or alternative thoughts or alternative ideas" or Respondent 14 noting valuation due to it reflecting greater self-reliance and accountability (2021, 08:34).

9) How is ambition valued in your organization?

Five respondents had responses that were characterized as "strong positive", nine as "positive" and two that were considered "nuanced positive" as they cited the importance and dependence on the proximal manager (Respondent 7) or noting it depended on the focus of the value on ambition being the manager's ambition (Respondent 6). Additionally, though characterized as one of the "strong positive" responses, Respondent 2 noted a dependency on role or the immediate culture of the location, a tone likely set by local managers thus reinforcing literature regarding the power of the immediate manager to enforce and interpret values.

10) How important is it to consider ambition as a factor in any of the areas of talent selection or acquisition, development, or performance management?

For this query, respondents often noted multiple areas in which they felt ambition plays a role with the most (seven) respondents noting "selection" as a key area of talent management in which ambition is most important. These results are seen in Table 10 which notes 6 individuals indicated in their response, interestingly, that ambition may be innate, difficult to develop, or otherwise hard to screen for reliably and in advance.

 Table 10

 Value of Ambition to Talent Management Practice Area

Practice Area	Number of Specific Mentions
Selection	7
Innate or hard to assess	6
Development	5
Performance Management	5
Noted role-dependency in relevance	2
Other: Engagement; Retention; Diversity; Overall Culture	1

11) How important do you think the consideration of ambition is to desirable organizational outcomes such as engagement, productivity, retention?

Though this question was different than the prior, its outcomes were similar and reinforced aspects in which ambition is valued with respondents noting a wide variety of positive organizational outcomes including increased diversity, customer focus, engagement, retention, goal setting and achievement and culture as well as a one respondent noting the now familiar situational- or role-based theme that it may be greater in "more professional... or salaried exempt roles" (2021, Respondent 3, 14:15).

12) How would things be different or what would it be like if you valued ambition more for employee you supervise?

This query is the managerial perspective equivalent to question 7 in section II (the employee perspective) that plumbs the potential end-state of what "valuing ambition even more" would look like which, like the similarly worded question in Section II addressing the employee perspective, brings additional clarity to its value. As such responses were similar if not revealing more details in most instances with one only respondent (Respondent 6) indicating it would be more negative in the situation in which management focused on their own ambitions rather than on the ambitions of their employees. Three respondents gave an "unsure" response (Respondents 3, 8, and 14) while all others noted various positive aspects, often extensions of the previous query, emphasizing areas such as organizational performance, pride-in-the workplace and work (Respondents 3 and 7) as well as workplace diversity (Respondent 10) with selection and performance management noted by several as well (Respondents 4, 6, 8, 9, 11, and 13). Other themes noted were increased "listening" (Respondents 1 and 2), employee engagement

(Respondents 10 and 15) and innovation (Respondent 5) with nearly all respondents noting multiple positive attributes or behaviors.

Though but one respondent noted a negative potential end state (Respondent 6) if "ambition was valued even more", the support for this potential pitfall of ambition is reflected in an important but minority of various other responses as well as those who noted positive consequences but assumed that the proximal manager was "employee-focused" rather than excessively egocentric.

Summary

In review, 16 working adults with both two years of full-time work experience as well as managerial experience participated. These individuals are current adult students at University of Arkansas eVersity, designed from the ground up as cost-effective solution to bachelor's degree achievement and career advancement for working learners. Results indicated that ambition is indeed strongly and near universally valued in the workplace though certain contexts can impact its expression such as the proximal manager, the role, or company- or even global events as well as gender or other potentially other demographic influences. Further, when expressed in such a way that focuses on non-egocentric expressions of ambition by managers, it can be associated with a myriad of positive benefits at an individual, team, and overall organizational level.

Chapter 5: Summary and Discussion

Results from interviewing experienced working adults who have both an employee and a managerial perspective on the expression of ambition it the workplace were unequivocally clear that ambition is indeed highly valued in the workplace. Though this finding brings clarity to one issue, it only highlights another, that is, there exists a real gap between the perceived value of ambition in the workplace and the dearth of research cited by the few but noteworthy researchers in the space. Further, it suggests an opportunity for talent management professionals around a few key issues to improve workplace productivity and engagement.

Discussion of Results

Revisiting the stated purpose of this research, the research question sought to explore if ambition is valued in the workplace from the view of the employee as well as the perspective of managers and supervisors. The answer, unequivocally, is that respondents noted a positive valuation of ambition in the workplace yet this is tempered with situational nuances and contingencies that merit elaboration and suggest the need for additional research. This becomes more apparent when one steps away from reviewing the results from at an individual participant-level or a question-by-question basis, as a number of important themes become apparent when consideration to results is applied across both participants and interview questions.

Ambition, Unchallenged as a Multi-faceted Concept

Surprisingly, all participants embraced the multifaceted concept of ambition to the extent that one might be led to think such as concept was a part of a pre-existing dominant belief system. Certainly, this is a possible explanation yet, considering the noted scarcity of research on the topic of ambition (Jones et al., 2017; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012; Siegling & Petrides,

2016) and the unlikely familiarity with personality theory as adult working learners in a Bachelor of Business degree program, such seeming familiarity is unexpected.

This unfamiliarity is supported by literature in which ambition is most often associated with an achievement or competitive focus (Brim, 1992; Epstein, 1980; Field, 2002; Pettigrove, 2007; Spinner & Featherman, 1977; Talevich et al., 2017). Despite this, participants readily embraced or endorsed Field's multifaceted ambition concept introduced by the WAM assessment (Field, 2002) as part of the pre-participation questionnaire. A potential explanation for the rapid embrace may be that the idea was readily adopted because of their more extensive workforce experience and constructionist approach that colors the study and the multifaceted concept simply fit the experiences of interviewee. Such an explanation resonates with socioanalytic personality theory, one of the key theories underpinning this research with its three biological drives including that of the strong bias of "sense-making" (Hogan & Holland, 2003, p. 100; Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30;).

Related to this was the surprising, lower-than-expected number of participants that indicated any revisionist thinking or challenges to their own views of ambition. Though a quarter of participants, at some point in Section I, expressed what could be characterized as introspection, only four participants expressed any challenge to the expression of ambition in terms of perspective, gender, culture, or situation or role throughout all questions in the interview.

To elaborate on these challenges, perhaps most notable was one participant who, upon further probing, based her more nuanced and cautious endorsement of ambition as a positive in terms of her view that the key to ambition being positive are in situations in which managers do not focus on their own ambitions but rather seek to know, accept, and encourage the ambitions of their employees. This perspective was surprising in its clarity, simplicity, and as a result of

perhaps an insufficiently stated or understood assumption in the research that the managerial perspective of ambition would focus on the valuation of the concept at the level of the employee rather than at the level of self. Alternatively, the value of ambition from the employee perspective evoked in Section II of the interviews were based on the valuation of ambition by the management level, again directed outward with the employee as the target. Though seemingly understood at the onset, the participant's views reinforced the importance of perspective and emphasized the importance of the manager's focus on employee vs. self-interests.

The Importance of the Proximal Manager

One area where literature and experience agree is the importance of one's immediate manager. Such cliché phrases as, "people don't leave companies, people leave managers" (Nolan, 2018), though they hold some truth, can be misleading (McPherson, 2021). Despite the controversy of the complete truth of the phrase, it is undisputed that managers and leadership play a significant role in many aspects of modern work life and are the primary mediator of systems, policies, and processes of the organization (Chiaburu & Lim, 2008; Gill, 2008; Kane-Urrabazo, 2006; Whitener et al., 1998).

Though participants called out situations in which managers played a significant role in advancing, curbing, or otherwise influencing the expression and reward of ambition, this concept goes beyond any specific situation to underscore the role that managers have more broadly in how they shape both specific behaviors as well as behavior in general via atmosphere or culture in the workplace. Specifically, the proximal manager plays a vital role in either the positive treatment or, alternatively, the suppression of an employee's ambition. This can amplify or potentially even nullify broader strokes made at the highest levels in the organization to promote or value ambition. As an example, Respondent 1 (2021, 12:10) noted the organization she was

employed promoted certain corporate values that were very aligned with themes of ambition yet, she stated those values seemed, "more geared toward the corporate employees and less toward the people on the front line" (2021, 12:10). In this case and likely many similar ones, whether historic or in the present, either or both the senior manager onsite did not propagate corporate messaging or, the lowest-ranking corporate manager in charge of the site though seated elsewhere did not push communications to the local site manager regarding the corporate values or culture. In effect, whether by design or by accident, one of these manager roles broke the link in the transmission of corporate values.

Echoing the children's game of telephone in which a line of youth pass on anything more than the simplest communication, over the course of just a few transmissions of person-to-person, the communication can be altered in meaning, often unrecognizable from the original message. However, in this adult version of the game that plays out in the workplace as various information is transmitted from the highest levels of management to the rest of the organization, it is possible for certain players to opt out entirely or sometimes even substituting their own potentially conflicting message. This theme is also evident in the Respondent 2 when she specifically was chosen on the basis of her ambition and the ability to deliver against it, her present manager "wants us always to remember our place" (2021, 11:09). And, it should be noted that this is not a factor or theme that is limited to expression with gender but rather is focused on power imbalances though historically, many power imbalances may coexist or be initiated or facilitated by differences in gender, race, sexuality or other socio-demographic basis (Burke, 2020). This exemplified by Respondent 13 in which his superiors felt threatened and perceived conflict because of his ambition when they were newly appointed over his area (2021).

The Power of the Situation

It is important to note that regardless of or, despite behavioral intention, situations can be powerful mediators or expressed actions (Fishbein & Azjen, 1980) and is reminiscent of the seminal film, *The Power of the Situation* (WGBH & APA, 1990) a short documentary on social psychology which situations significantly impact expressed behavior. This theme is also very aligned with the theoretical underpinnings of research in self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977) and subsequent broader applications such as the socioanalytic model of personality (Hogan, 1982), self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000), and social cognitive career theory (Lent 2013b), all of which feature prominently in understanding the concept of ambition in the workplace.

Specifically, this research effort revealed five respondents who called out elements of situational influence on the expression or regard of ambition in the workplace in which they noted the power of the local manager to attenuate, suppress, or change the valuation of ambition. As an example, Respondent 10 succinctly noted, "It's definitely influenced situationally" (2021, 6:41) while Respondents 1, 3, 5, 13, and 15 all noted the importance of one's role being potentially more or less suited to being valued for ambition. This was well-stated by Respondent 3 (2021, 10:46) when she noted:

Some people that are okay doing the same thing day in, day out, clocking in and clocking out, just doing what's required. And... and, sometimes that doesn't lend itself to... potentially finding ways to improve processes or... or any of it. So I think ambition is definitely... it's not a requirement... but it is certainly a good trait that while you do need the other people to be the consistencies, you know, to provide that reliability of the, you know, things are going to get done during certain times, I think people with ambition are not necessarily catalysts of change, but they lend themselves to change and improvements and positive development.

Indeed, though the sample in this study revealed near unanimous positive regard for ambition, it is important to note that such as positive value most be supported by circumstances and context

of the situation. Specifically, the theme that ambition is likely to be more valued in leadership roles or those that value initiative, innovation, or change over roles that prize consistency or maintenance of the status quo is clearly present.

Implications for Practice

When considering these findings along with the fact that 75% of all turnover in the workplace is voluntary with a primary reason being a lack of career development which costs US firms \$630 billion annually is staggering (Achievers, 2020; Akhtar, 2019; Conference Executive Board (CEB), 2015; Gallup, 2017; Mahan et al., 2019; Morris, 2018). When one considers what the emotional and behavioral precursors to voluntary departure might look or feel like, it is sobering. To be in a role in which employees feel that their career ambitions are better served in another organization should seemingly set alarm bells ringing for managers as well as human resources and talent management professionals.

Talent Management Practices and Ambition: Farming or Hunting?

The importance of ambition in the selection aspect of talent management, especially in roles which seem more suited for its display, in selection was noted in the prior chapter. Using a metaphor for the approach to sourcing candidates that are sufficiently ambitious for the context or role at hand, the range for talent management professionals exist on a continuum from "farming" to "hunting". That is, in order to compete in the "talent wars", talent professionals or organizations need to be good at either finding the right individuals that have the right knowledge or skills, or they need to be adept at developing the employees they have (Collings & Mellahi, 2009; Lepak & Snell, 1999; Meyers and van Woerkom, 2017). However, three respondents noted their uncertainty that ambition can be trained (Respondents 3, 11, & 15, 2021) which creates the appropriate question of if ambition can be "farmed" or developed at all,

leaning toward the approach that "talent is scarce" and is either hard or costly to develop (Collings & Mellahi, 2009; Huselid, 2005; Meyers & van Woerkom, 2017).

There is no doubt that ambition is on the more stable, durable characteristics on the continuum of psychological constructs from transient "moods" to the durable element of personality expression (Ardelt, 2000). Whether it is a primary trait of personality derived from a five-factor model (Jones et al., 2016) or if it is a "middle-level trait" (Judge & Kammeyer-Mueller, 2012), the question of if ambition is malleable becomes similar to the question of malleability of personality. Thus, under the assumption that is either is or "is like" personality, the question if one can change their personality becomes salient. The answer to this, in a recent and rigorous review by 15 authors, is that personality traits are very stable though, at particular times in life such as the transition from adolescence to adulthood or with sustained or substantial effort, personality or its expression can indeed be changed (Bleidorn et al., 2019) and further, there are noted theorists that would attest to the power of the situation in shaping the expression of personality as well (Damian et al., 2019; Mischel, 2009; Roberts, 2006).

With this is mind, organizations ought to take a blended approach slightly skewed toward "hunting" based on the idea that though ambition, like other durable constructs can be changed but, it is easier and less resource intensive to work with those who already possess this quality. That is, talent selection resources should be allocated to finding the appropriate amount of ambition in candidates and hires (hunting) though it is important that those focused on talent development do not ignore the cultivation, recognition, and rewarding of ambition (farming) to align and support the overall approach. Thus, there is evidence that both a "top-down" (Collings & Mellahi, 2009; Huselid, 2005; Meyers & van Woerkom, 2017) and "bottom up" to talent development (Collings & Mellahi, 2009; Lepak & Snell, 1999) may yield results though the

choice ought to be deliberate and the option of one approach compared to the other will incur a very different allocation of resources. Further, and perhaps of greater importance is the role of larger systems and structures inclusive within broader aspects of human capital management that create and maintain a culture that values ambition subject to appropriate roles or contexts of the firm. This second area extends the metaphor of "farming" to creating an organization with "good soil" that is properly prepared and tended to foster ambition and its positive valuation so that the positive effects can be realized. While perhaps an apt metaphorical illustration of a how an organization might approach the topic, it also enforces the theoretical underpinnings of the "power of the situation" to influence the expression or suppression of behavior and the traits that are hypothesized to drive them. Finally, such an approach is aligned with dominant themes in talent management literature that indicate for optimal outcomes, process must be strategic, aligned, and integrated (Hunt, 2014; Israelite, 2010; Rothwell, 2012; Stahl et al., 2012).

Thought it may not be essential that talent management professionals have an understanding of personality theory, they should be deeply cognizant of the power of the situation which would be inclusive of structure, pathways, culture, as well as the dominant effects that organizational leaders and managers have on the ambition in the workplace. Specifically, Socioanalytic Personality Theory (Hogan, 1984) would suggest that the work of talent management prepare any employee to be able to answer three key questions in relation to the broader organization as well as at the lowest levels or in remote locations away from headquarters sites where centralized influences maybe be lower: How does one "get ahead", how does one "get along", and can I "make sense" of it all? (Hogan & Holland, 2003, p. 100; Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30). By having an understanding and acceptance of how employees address these

questions, organizations can gain deeper insight into the overall effectiveness of organizational development efforts.

In terms of what this might look like in practice, there are three interrelated areas that readily come to mind: structure, transparency, and promotion.

Structure, Transparency, & Promotion

Organizational structure is collective term for "how work flows through an organization" and consists of five elements "job design, departmentation, delegation, span of control, and chain of command" (Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM), 2017). Without much effort, it is easy to see how the five elements, when aligned and made clear to all employees could contribute greatly to each of the three biological drives of socioanalytic personality theory. It is important to note that while structures and forms of business organization vary, so long as these elements are aligned and conflict between elements is minimized, the organization is likelier to achieve higher performance at both an organizational and individual level (DeCanio et al., 2000).

Further, as one might rationally infer, these five elements of organizational structure (SHRM, 2017) influence the attitudes and expressed behaviors of employee (Cummings & Berger, 1976) which translates to the overall organizational performance (Dalton et al., 1980). While there are many successful organizational forms, having transparency or clarity will reduce confusion, speculation, and possibly dissent as employees will be able to get along and readily make sense of how decisions in the organization are made. Having this information readily available and visible in the form of cultural artifacts and other elements of communication can create a culture in which values are aligned and reinforced, further enhancing the purpose and intent of the organization's structure (Bunch, 2007).

Gender Influences & Ambition

As some respondents (Respondents 2, 6, and 11) as well as recent literature note, there are occasions for various individuals that are often-but-not-always based on gender or other sociodemographic characteristic, in which the expression of ambition is less favorably viewed or in many cases, explicitly discouraged (Abouzhar et al., 2017; Burke, 2020; Fels, 2004; O'Connell, 2018). Indeed, at least three respondents, noted a suppression of ambition ranging from the culture that exists from the proximal manager or other highly localized or departmental level to the culture of a nation in addition to those that noted other role-based situational influences. Though gender or demographic suppression of ambition is a distinct and likely a large category of influence on the expression of ambition in the workplace and though more study is warranted, a fuller inquiry into this important area was out of scope for this research undertaking. Despite the importance and distinctiveness of the topic, effort to promote greater equality and inclusion in this area is likely quite in line with other situational influences through the manipulation of the levers of the organization control via structural elements noted above.

Though the elements of organizational structure (SHRM, 2017) ostensibly apply to business, the same elements could be rationally extended to other forms of organization including social or family structures. In much the same way that elements of national culture can be assessed, so too can other units of organization such as businesses or any unit larger than the individual (Hofstede, 2012). Thus, the elements of the organizational structure, regardless of the organization's form, can be leveraged to create, enforce, or change the dominant systems that exist in which ambition may not be equitably valued across individuals or groups. As such, these could be viewed as the levers of change to create and maintain systems for a culture in which ambition was valued and career assessment and development opportunities were promoted.

Alignment with Theoretical Constructs

Though the purpose of this research was not to prove (or disprove) any theory, the findings underscore the value of the theoretical constructs leveraged at the onset of this work. Specifically, the value of SCCT as an extension of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977), self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000), incorporation of values and interests (Lent, 2013), and with its emphasis on the power of the situational context to influence outcomes (Lent et al., 1994) remains relevant. However, despite SCCT's general applicability, a few participants did make note of significant unplanned life or workplace events. These sentiments reflect the emphasis of Pryor and Bright's extension of SCCT, Chaos Career Theory (2005). As the purpose of the research was a focus on the valuation of ambition, the nuances of these two related theories viz a viz the impact of unplanned circumstances was not explored.

If career theory was one foundational source of insight for this research, personality theory was the other. Similar to SCCT, it was not the purpose of this research to explore or validate theoretical constructs though it is reassuring to having data that align with models utilized to understand and frame information. In this way, though nothing contradicted five-factor models of personality, the findings of this study reinforce a view more aligned with the Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (Hogan, 1982) in two important ways. First, the overarching biological drives of "getting ahead", "getting along", and "making sense of it all" (Tracy et al., 2015, 3:30; Hogan & Holland, 2003, p. 100) resonate deeply with the overall tone and impressions from the interviews. Secondly, as the findings of this research indicate a clear valuation of ambition in the workplace, it is clear that while five factor models are not incorrect, they seem to missing an opportunity to speak to the lived experiences of individuals in the workplace by their omission of "ambition". Though five factor models are valid, whether

ambition exists as a "middle-level trait" (Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012) or possibly simply not being widely understood as being distinct from the concept of "motivation" (Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009), Hogan's Socioanalytic Theory of Personality (1982) substantially reconciles both of these issues.

Managing the Opportunity

In summary, the results from this research indicate that better understanding and managing ambition in the workplace by talent management professionals could be a source of a significant advantage to employers. Further, the management of ambition, or any other value or initiative in the workplace is likely too dependent on the effectiveness or general inclinations of the proximal manager. Based on this research, ambition is clearly important yet is vastly too dependent on a "good manager", often uncodified processes, and frequently unsupported by either formal policy, structure, metrics or accountability.

According to the diverse respondents in this research, the list of positive attributes that would increase "if ambition were valued even more" is impressive and ranges from the expected responses such as increased individual and organizational achievement to the unanticipated potential of increased communication, innovation, accountability, teamwork, and a culture in which employees feel more valued for their contributions. Though according to these representative workers, ambition *is* valued in the workplace but there is little evidence that it is valued or tracked in the same manner as other more commonplace indicators of performance such as those that track production, profit, or even safety.

Considering this, like the few key financial measures of organizational health and similar to a few key production data that operations may focus on, or the net promoter score that sales or

customer service teams work to optimize, imagine if human resources and talent management had a similar system of a select indicators that would give a snapshot of the health of this important area of the firm. It is ironic that human resource personnel often talk about "getting a seat at the table" in reference to the perspective of sometimes feeling "left out" of key business decisions when people form the metaphorical legs of the tables that everyone is sitting at. To support this assertion, a recent Google search of "HR, seat at the table" yield in excess of 24 million hits with notable content resources as Harvard Business, Review, Forbes, and SHRM near the top with titles all echoing the same sentiment, often lamenting or conceptualizing human resource personnel being absent or omitted from significant business decisions.

Thus, what might aid in this situation as well as the very real and costly problem of a lack of appropriate career development is a readily understood talent-oriented metric(s) with a categorization that gives quick insight into the state of talent management and development. Such measures would likely be leading indicators of personnel costs reflecting the potential of increased turnover or, alternatively, a leading indicator correlating with higher performing organizations and teams with respect to innovation, diversity, retention, development, and collaboration, all items that were noted by research participants. Indeed, to collectively measure the ambition of an organization against its operational capabilities and initiatives would seem to be a valuable assessment of current and future organizational health.

However, as noted initially in the chapter, this measure of ambition needs to be accompanied by a culture that arises from a structure that creates a virtuous cycle to proactively prevent the rise of three key potentially dysfunctional elements: people, power, and processes. In terms of ambition, as respondents and other sources note, the power of the proximal manager is such that the most elegant and well-intentioned plans for employee talent and career

development can be derailed when managers select and promote their own agenda thus labeled "dysfunctional people". Similarly, "power" can be dysfunctional when relationships are exploited on the basis of unfair power structures that allow behaviors that are not equitable to exist. Examples of this would be discriminatory or harassing behaviors based on gender, race, or other categories that promote insecurity and inequity in the workplace. It is important to note that the workplace should not likely be one of equity but rather a meritocracy and in no case should be power be exploited as a means to justify inequity on any basis but performance or some reasonable accommodation to individual needs. Dysfunctional systems are those that arise from power or people but now are integrated into operations so that dysfunctional processes and outcomes are reinforced. Creating a culture in which managers were accountable and integrated into the talent management process would likely go a long way to reducing workplace inequity as well as aiding in the development of employees.

Recommendations for Future Research

This research was initiated substantially to reconcile 20 plus years of professional work experience with a variety of some of the most sophisticated organizations in the country with the messaging, artifacts, and actions of talent management practices. These experiences include working as an employee in professional organizations, as a vendor/partner, as a student, and in research of and efforts in the application process to become an employee of various organizations. These varied experiences contribute possibly a thousand or more vignettes, many of which reflect aspects of data cited in the problem statement regarding three fourths of voluntary departures being due to a lack of career development or opportunity (Achievers, 2020; Akhtar, 2019; Conference Executive Board (CEB), 2015; Gallup, 2017; Mahan et al., 2019; Morris, 2018). Despite the personal salience as well as the significant cost of voluntary turnover,

the irony of the present state of a research is alarming and, as a result, the opportunities for additional inquiry are numerous and diverse.

A notable future edition of this work should likely include some characterization of the state of talent management from the employer. Given the range of talent management practices and lack of characterization outside of a general range of low-to-high sophistication or involvement (Baruch & Peiperl, 2000), this was not a topic on inquiry. Though many respondents were part of large organizations that are known to have a talent management function, this was not captured in the data. Though research indicates that most medium to large organizations do have this function (Kotlyar, 2018; Silzer & Borman, 2017; Silzer & Church, 2009), there is no indicator to their effectiveness, only their presence.

Also, while it would be desirable to see a study in which an appropriately sized division or perhaps a few operating units of a suitably large organization were set up as an extended experiment in which a comprehensive talent management strategy with a focus on leveraging the ambition concept could be compared to other untreated, business-as-usual units, such an experiment is not likely without addressing other more fundamental questions. First among these might be a survey of existing talent management practices for evidence of current ways that ambition is managed. In the modern era with such platforms as LinkedIn that facilitates access to many organizations or via various respected annual surveys such as SHRM or ATD (Association of Talent Development), it would seem not-to-difficult to implement a survey that measured the perceptions of how organizations manage career development presently from which those that were best-in-class could be compared to worst-in-class for how employees felt their ambition and career development was being appropriately managed.

From a more psychological basis, having a better understanding of what the "average" level of ambition is would be interesting if not potentially helpful. In this study, the WAM was utilized solely as a means to acquaint participant with the multifaceted concept of ambition and not as a means to truly assess or score individuals. Given the process rigor that went into developing the WAM instrument, it would be interesting to get a calibration and distribution that might offer insight or potential predictive value into how ambition or talent management might go awry. For example, the question of if ambitious people more likely to leave an organization or disproportionately affected by sub-optimal talent management practices would likely be of interest to both employees as well as management.

Other inquiries could be directed at youth... For example, is there a correlation to ambition and intention as well as behavior to attend college? Is there a connection between ambition and the college that one attends? Are arts focused institutions or programs populated by less ambitious students than highly focused college preparatory schools? Is there a connection between ambition and extracurricular activity participation and achievement such as intervarsity athletics, scouting, or the arts such as band, chorus, or theatre? Also, given that ambition is defined as trait-like and trait expression, e.g., personality, is likely more malleable at certain time of transition such as adolescence (Bleidorn et al., 2019), an inquiry into how ambition changes with participation in these types of formative and competitive performance-based activities would be both potentially useful as parents, teachers, and coaches might seek to inculcate and develop ambition.

Introspection Suggests Opportunity

In regard to both organizational and social dynamics as well as in personal situations, I consider myself to be an ambitious person. In addition to my experiences as an employee of

various organizations, I have the experiences of a college professor who has taught 1,000+ students in the principles of business and organizational strategy and operations that gives the perspective and insight of many student papers, cases, and inquiries, all of which contributed to the idea that most organizations are missing "something". Indeed, this doctoral journey has been as much focused on working to better understand and reconcile my own ambition and my struggles with a strong desire to "do better" as it has been about the ambition of achievement of a terminal academic research degree. I have been told that I am a "very intense" person and internally debate if it is the right thing to do to hold others to my own standards or to acknowledge that best efforts of some are simply not good enough. I suspect that my pursuit of continuous improvement, while admirable in some ways, is quite confounding and aggravating in others... likely especially to those that I live with, my family. As such, research inquiries into family dynamics include spouse/partner as well as parent-child relations and conflicts would likely be interesting, useful, and plentiful.

In conclusion, as with most American children, the various forms of the message that "anything is possible with hard work" is inspiring. From heroic tales of "rags to riches" to the very personal lessons of the virtues and rewards of hard work from my family of origin, I became culturally inoculated with the belief that my own determination and drive would result in successively greater achievements. Despite several years of experience with large organizations and my own great ambition, I have not seldom seen an organization that fully addresses this trait that America was built upon. As evidence of this shortcoming, the fact that 75% of voluntary departures from organizations note a failure to provide adequate means or explanation to support the desire of employees for development speaks loudly (Achievers, 2020; Akhtar, 2019; Conference Executive Board (CEB), 2015; Gallup, 2017; Mahan et al., 2019; Morris, 2018). It

would seem that the organization that effectively manages this concept would have a potential source of competitive advantage by matching ability, need, and desire as well as by reducing frustration that is likely to result when an individual's ambitions are not matched by either their career path or appropriate counseling or development.

Summary

Ambition is a concept that has been largely and systematically ignored by talent selection, management, and development function and represents either a potentially untapped source of competitive advantage can promote higher performance as well as innovation and inclusivity. Moderating the expression of ambition are the levers and buttons of organization structure and the disposition of the proximal manager, all of which contribute to govern the situation and culture that promotes or suppresses individual behaviors. Though opportunity for future study in the workplace are numerous, there are many other areas that future study would be interesting and useful including youth development as well as family dynamics.

References

- "A third industrial revolution". (2012, Apr 21). *The Economist, 403*(15). http://bi.gale.com/essentials/article/GALE%7CA286958000/35302c194dffdf2824683766 9982876c?u=faye28748
- Abouzhar, K. Krentz, M., Tracey, C., & Tsusaka, M. (2017). Dispelling the myths of the gender "Ambition Gap". https://www.bcg.com/publications/2017/people-organization-leadership-change-dispelling-the-myths-of-the-gender-ambition-gap
- Acemoglu, D., Johnson, S., & Robinson, J. (2005). The rise of Europe: Atlantic trade, institutional change, and economic growth. *The American Economic Review*, 95(3), 546-579.
- Achievers. (2020). 2020 Engagement & Retention Report: Failure to Engage. https://3enw232wev6r2iiyl51giig3-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/012220 Achievers ERR 124.pdf
- Adams, J. T. (1933). *The epic of America*. Little, Brown and Company.
- Akhtar, A. (2019, June 12). Bosses take note: Workers say lack of engagement is a top reason they'd quit their jobs. *Business Insider*. https://www.businessinsider.com/the-main-reason-an-employee-would-quit-a-job-2019-6
- Ajzen, I. (2001). Nature and operation of attitudes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 27-58.
- Albrecht, S. (2010). *Handbook of employee engagement: Perspectives, issues, research, and practice*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Allen, D. G., Bryant, P. C., & Vardaman, J. M. (2010). Retaining talent: Replacing misconceptions with evidence-based strategies. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 24(2), 48-64. https://doi:10.5465/amp.2010.51827775
- Allport, G. W., and Odpert, H.S. (1936). Trait-names: A psycholexical study. *Psychological Monographs*, 47(1). Psychological Review Company.
- American Psychological Association (APA). (2019). *Education and socioeconomic status*. https://www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/education
- Aquinas, T. (2006). Summa Theologica, Part II-II. Translated by the Fathers of the English Dominican Province. Benzinger Brothers. Retrieved November 3, 2018, from www.gutenberg.org/ebooks/18755
- Ardelt, M. (2000). Still stable after all these years? personality stability theory revisited. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 63(4), 392-405.

- Arthur, M. B. (1994). The boundaryless career: A new perspective for organizational inquiry: Introduction. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *15*(4), 295-306. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030150402
- Axelrod, S. (1999). Work and the evolving self. Analytic Press.
- Bacon, F. (1876). Bacon; the advancement of learning. Clarendon Press.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for Constructing Self-Efficacy Scales. In F. Pajares, & T. Urdan, (Eds.), *Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Adolescents* (pp. 307-37). Information Age Publishing.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *52*(1), 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. *American Psychologist*, 37(2), 122-147. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.37.2.122
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Baruch, Y., & Peiperl, M. (2000). Career management practices: An empirical survey and implications. Human Resource Management, 39(4), 347-366. https://doi:10.1002/1099-050X(200024)39:4<347:AID-HRM6>3.0.CO;2-C
- Benschop, Y., van den Brink, M., Doorewaard, H., and Leenders, J. (2013). Discourses of ambition, gender and part-time work. *Human* Relations, *66*(5), 699-723. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726712466574
- Bersin, J., & Chamorro-Premuzic, T. (2019). New ways to gauge talent and potential. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 60(2), 1.
- Bleidorn, W., Hill, P. L., Back, M. D., Denissen, J. J. A., Hennecke, M., Hopwood, C. J., Jokela, M., Kandler, C., Lucas, R. E., Luhmann, M., Orth, U., Wagner, J., Wrzus, C., Zimmermann, J., & Roberts, B. (2019). The policy relevance of personality traits. *The American Psychologist*, 74(9), 1056-1067. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000503
- Block, J. (2010). The five-factor framing of personality and beyond: Some ruminations. *Psychological Inquiry*, 21, 2-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/10478401003596626
- Boštjančič, E., & Slana, Z. (2018). The role of talent management comparing medium-sized and large companies major challenges in attracting and retaining talented employees. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*(1750). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01750
- Boyle, G. J., Matthews, G., & Saklofske, D. H. (2008). Personality theories and models: An overview. In G. J. Boyle, G. Matthews, & D. H. Saklofske (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of personality theory and assessment, Vol. 1. Personality theories and models* (p. 1–29). Sage Publications, Inc.

- Bradburn, N., & Berlew, D. (1961). Need for achievement and English industrial growth. *Economic Development and Cultural Change, 10*(1), 8-20. https://doi:10.1086/449938
- Brand, C.R. (1994). How many dimensions of personality? The "Big 5", the "Gigantic 3", or the "Comprehensive 6"?. *Psychologica Belgica*, 34(4), 257-273.
- Bradt, G. (2016). Wannamaker was wrong The vast majority of advertising is wasted. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/georgebradt/2016/09/14/wanamaker-was-wrong-the-vast-majority-of-advertising-is-wasted/#56691ad5483b
- Bright, J., & Pryor, R. (2011). The chaos theory of careers. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 48(4), 163-166. https://doi:10.1002/j.2161-1920.2011.tb01104.x
- Bright, J., & Pryor, R. (2005). The chaos theory of careers: A user's guide. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 53(4), 291-305. https://doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2005.tb00660.x
- Bright, J., & Pryor, R. (2003). The chaos theory of careers. *Australian Journal of Career Development*, 12(3), 12-20. https://doi.org/10.1177/103841620301200304
- Brim, G. (1992). Ambition: How we manage success and failure throughout our lives. Basic Books.
- Bunch, K.J. (2007). Training failure as a consequence of organizational culture. *Human Resource Development Review*, 6 (2), 142-163. doi: 10.1177/1534484307299273
- Burke, E., Schmidt, C., & Griffin, M. (2014). Improving the Odds of Success for High-Potential Programs. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.18588.08323
- Burke, T. (2020). me too. https://metoomvmt.org/get-to-know-us/history-inception/
- Byham, W., Smith, A., and Paese, J. (2002). *Grow your own leaders: How to identify, develop, and retain leadership talent.* Prentice Hall.
- Cantor, N. (1990). From thought to behavior: "having" and "doing" in the study of personality and cognition. *American Psychologist*, 45(6), 735-750. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.45.6.735
- Cappelli, P., & Keller, J. (2014). Talent management: Conceptual approaches and practical challenges. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *1*(1), 305-331. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091314
- Carucci, R. (2020, April 13). How ambitious should you be? *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2020/04/how-ambitious-should-you-be
- Cattell, R., & Stice, G. (1957). Handbook for the sixteen personality factor questionnaire. IPAT.
- Cattell, R. (1943). The description of personality: Basic traits resolved into clusters. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 38(4), 476-506. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0054116

- Center for Creative Leadership (CCL). (2019). "About the Center for Creative Leadership". https://www.ccl.org/about-the-center-for-creative-leadership/
- Chambers, E., Foulon, M., Handfield-Jones, H., Hankin, S., & Michaels, E., III. (1998). The war for talent. *The McKinsey Quarterly*, 1(3), 44.
- Chandra, V. (2012). Work-life balance: Eastern and western perspectives. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *23*(5), 1040-1056. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2012.651339
- Clark, D., Beck, A, & Alford, B. (1999). Scientific Foundations of Cognitive Theory and Therapy of Depression. John Wiley & Sons.
- Collins, J. (2001). Good to great: Why some companies make the leap--and others don't. HarperBusiness.
- Combs, P. (2014). Mentoring: Perpetuated on a myth?. In N. Chalofsky, T. Rocco, & M. Morris Eds.), *Handbook of human resource development (1st ed.)* (pp. 425-437). Wiley.
- Conference Executive Board (CEB). (2015, Nov 16). Seventy percent of employees unhappy with career development. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/seventy-percent-of-employees-unhappy-with-career-opportunities-300178571.html
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). Normal personality assessment in clinical practice: The NEO personality inventory. *Psychological Assessment*, *4*(1), 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.4.1.5
- Chiaburu, D.S., and Lim, A. S. (2008). Manager trustworthiness or interactional justice? Predicting organizational citizenship behaviors. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 83, 453-467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-007-9631-x
- Cummings, L. L., & Berger, C. J. (1976). Organization structure: How does it influence attitudes and performance? Organizational Dynamics, 5(2), 34-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(76)90053-X
- Dalton, D. R., Todor, W. D., Spendolini, M. J., Fielding, G. J., & Porter, L. W. (1980). Organization structure and performance: A critical review. The Academy of Management Review, 5(1), 49-64. https://doi.org/10.2307/257804
- Damian, R. I., Spengler, M., Sutu, A., & Roberts, B. W. (2019). Sixteen going on sixty-six: A longitudinal study of personality stability and change across 50 years. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 117(3), 674-695. https://doi:10.1037/pspp0000210
- Dawis, R., & Lofquist, L. (1984). *A psychological theory of work adjustment*. University of Minnesota Press.

- DeCanio, S. J., Dibble, C., & Amir-Atefi, K. (2000). The importance of organizational structure for the adoption of innovations. Management Science, 46(10), 1285-1299. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.10.1285.12270
- Descartes, R., (1989). *The passions of the soul.* (S. Voss, Trans.) Hackett Pub. Co. (Original work published 1649).
- Desrochers, S., & Dahir, V. (2000). Ambition as a motivational basis of organizational and professional commitment: Preliminary analysis of a proposed career advancement ambition scale. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *91*(2), 563. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.2000.91.2.563
- De Vos, A., & Cambré, B. (2017). Career management in high-performing organizations: A settheoretic approach. *Human Resource Management*, *56*(3), 501-518. https://doi:10.1002/hrm.21786
- Dries, N., & Pepermans, R. (2012). How to identify leadership potential: Development and testing of a consensus model. *Human Resource Management*, *51*(3), 361-385. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21473
- Dweck, C. (200816 Mindset: The new psychology of success (updated ed.). Ballantine Books.
- El Baroudi, S., Fleisher, C., Khapova, S. N., Jansen, P., & Richardson, J. (2017). Ambition at work and career satisfaction: The mediating role of taking charge behavior and the moderating role of pay. *Career Development International*, 22(1), 87-102. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-07-2016-0124
- Epstein, J. (1980). Ambition the secret passion. Ivan R. Dee.
- Ericsson, K. A., Prietula, M. J., & Cokely, E. T. (2007). The making of an expert. *Harvard Business Review*, 85(7), 114-121.
- Evans, M. J. (2017). Workplace career conversations: Aligning organizational talent management and individual career development? (Doctoral dissertation. Loughborough University). https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.727707
- Evatt, R. (2019, January 8). It's time to stop vilifying ambition. https://www.hoganassessments.com/its-time-to-stop-vilifying-ambition/
- Evatt, R. (2014, September 18). *Hogan Assessments building new headquarters in downtown Tulsa*. Tulsa World. https://www.tulsaworld.com/business/hogan-assessments-building-new-headquarters-in-downtown-tulsa/article_fa5536b6-0ce4-5fac-a4fe-bdcc2fe08a96.html
- Fairlie, P. (2011). Meaningful work, employee engagement, and other key employee outcomes: implications for human resource development. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 13(4), 508-525. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422311431679

- Fels, A. (2004). Do women lack ambition? *Harvard Business Review*, 82(4), 50-139.
- Field, C. (2002). *The development and validation of the workplace ambition measure*. (Order No. 3047480) [Doctoral dissertation, Adelphi University). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 276436375).
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior*. Prentice-Hall.
- Fleck, S., & Inceoglu, I. (2010). A comprehensive framework for understanding and predicting engagement, in S. Albrecht (Ed.), *Handbook of Employee Engagement: Perspectives, Issues, Research, and Practice* (pp. 31-61). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Fox, J. (2016). "Big companies still employ lots of people". *Bloomberg View*. Retrieved at: https://www.bloomberg.com/view/articles/2016-04-20/big-companies-still-employ-lots-of-people
- Fire in one's belly. (2009). In A. Room, & E. C. Brewer (Eds.), *Brewer's dictionary of modern phrase and fable* (2nd ed.). Cassell. https://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/acref/9780199916108.001.0001/acref-9780199916108-e-2787?rskey=wamw0g&result=2783
- Frankl, V. (1984). Man's search for meaning. Revised and updated. Washington Square Press.
- Friedman, M., & Rosenman, R. (1959). Association of specific overt behavior pattern with blood and cardiovascular findings; blood cholesterol level, blood clotting time, incidence of arcus senilis, and clinical coronary artery disease. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 169(12), 1286.
- Friedman, M., & Rosenman, R. (1974). Type A behavior and your heart. Knopf.
- Furnham, A., Petrides, K. V., Tsaousis, I., Pappas, K., & Garrod, D. (2005). A cross-cultural investigation into the relationships between personality traits and work values. *The Journal of Psychology*, 139(1), 5-32. https://doi:10.3200/JRLP.139.1.5-32
- Gallup. (2019). *Building a high-development culture through your employee engagement strategy*. https://www.gallup.com/workplace/267512/development-culture-engagement-paper-2019.aspx
- Gallup. (2017). *State of the American Workplace*. https://www.gallup.com/workplace/238085/state-american-workplace-report-2017.aspx
- Galvin, R. (2015). How many interviews are enough? Do qualitative interviews in building energy consumption research produce reliable knowledge? *Journal of Building Engineering*, 1, 2-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobe.2014.12.001

- Gill, A. (2008). The role of trust in employee-manager relationship. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 20(1), 98-103. https://doi:10.1108/09596110810848613
- Goldberg, L. R. (1990). An alternative "description of personality": The big-five factor structure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 59(6), 1216-1229. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.59.6.1216
- Gothard, B. (2001). Career development theory. In Gothard, B. Mignot, P., Offer. M., & Ruff, M. Career Guidance in Context (pp. 10-37). Sage Publications.
- Gough, H. (1947). *Manual for the California psychological inventory*. Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Hall, D. T., & Moss, J. E. (1998). The new protean career contract: Helping organizations and employees adapt. *Organizational Dynamics*, 26(3), 22-37. https://doi:10.1016/S0090-2616(98)90012-2
- Hamori, M., Cao, J., & Koyuncu, B. (2012). Why top young managers are in a nonstop job hunt. *Harvard Business Review*, 90(7-8), 28.
- Hansson, R., Hogan, R., Johnson, J., & Schroeder, D. (1983). Disentangling Type A behavior: The roles of ambition, insensitivity, and anxiety. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 17(2), 186-197. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-6566(83)90030-2
- Hathaway, S., & McKinley, J. (1943). *Manual for the Minnesota multiphasic personality inventory*. Psychological Corporation.
- Hennink, M., Kaiser, B. & Marconi, V. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- HHS.gov. (2018). US Department of Health & Human Services Office for Human Research Protections. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45-cfr-46/index.html
- Hirschman, A. O. (1997). *The passions and the interests: Political arguments for capitalism before its triumph* (20th anniversary ed.). Princeton University Press.
- Hofstede, G. (2012). National cultures, organizational cultures, and the role of management. In J. Boatright, J. Carens, T. Clarke, R. DeGeorge, E. Freeman, M. Frost, F. Gonzalez, G. Hofstede, B. Kliksberg, P. Koslowski, H. Kung, A. Miah, C. Mitcham, M. Painter-Morland, R. Schmidt, K. Shrader-Frechette, R. Schultz, P. Singer, C. Taylor, and M. Warnock. *Values and ethics in the 21st century* (pp. 385-404). BBVA.

- https://www.bbvaopenmind.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/BBVA-OpenMind-Briefing-Ethics_2012-1.pdf
- Hofstede, G. (1983). National cultures in four dimensions: A research-based theory of cultural differences among nations. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 13(1/2), 46-74. https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.1983.11656358
- Hogan, J., & Holland, B. (2003). Using theory to evaluate personality and job-performance relations: A socioanalytic perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 100-112. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.1.100
- Hogan, R., & Hogan, J. (2007). *The Hogan Personality Inventory manual (3rd ed.)*. Hogan Assessment Systems.
- Hogan, R., & Schroeder, D. (1980). The ambiguities of educational achievement. *Sociological Spectrum, Premier Issue*, 35-45.
- Hogan Assessments. (2020, January 25). *Company homepage*. https://www.hoganassessments.com/
- Hogan Assessments. (2019). Subscale interpretive guide. http://info.hoganassessments.com/hubfs/Subscale_Interp_Guide.pdf
- Hogan Assessments. (2009). *High potential candidate assessment report technical manual*. http://www.hoganassessments.com/sites/default/files/uploads/High%20Potential%20Tech%20Manual%20-%20S.pdf
- Hogan, R. (1982). A socioanalytic theory of personality. In Page, M. (Ed.), *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation* (pp. 55-89). University of Nebraska Press.
- Hogan, R. and Smither, R. (2001). Personality: Theory and applications. Westview Press.
- Holland, J. (1966). A psychological classification scheme for vocations and major fields. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 13(3), 278–288. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0023725
- Huang, J., Ryan, A., Zabel, K., & Palmer, A. (2014). Personality and adaptive performance at work: A meta-analytic investigation. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99(1), 162-179. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034285
- Huang, J., & Tansley, C. (2012). Sneaking through the minefield of talent management: The notion of rhetorical obfuscation. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 23(17), 3673-3691. https://doi:10.1080/09585192.2011.639029
- Hume, D. (2012). *Treatise of human nature*. Retrieved November 10, 2018 from: https://www.gutenberg.org/files/4705/4705-h/4705
- Hunt, S. T. (2014). Common sense talent management: Using strategic human resources to improve company performance. John Wiley & Sons.

- Huselid, M. A., Beatty, R. W., & Becker, B. E. (2005). "A players" or "A positions"? The strategic logic of workforce management. *Harvard Business Review*, 83(12), 110-117.
- Israelite, L. (2010). *Talent Management: Strategies for Success from Six Leading Companies*. American Society for Training & Development.
- Jackson, D.N., Paunonen, S.V., Fraboni, M., and Goffin, R.D. (1996). A five-factor versus six-factor model of personality structure. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 20(1), 33-45. https://doi:10.1016/0191-8869(95)00143-T
- Jacobellis v. Ohio, 378 U.S. 184 (1963). Legal Information Institute. https://www.law.cornell.edu/supremecourt/text/378/184
- Jones, A., Sherman, R., & Hogan, R. (2017). Where is ambition in factor models of personality? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 106, 26-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.09.057
- Judge, T. A., & Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D. (2012). On the value of aiming high: The causes and consequences of ambition. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(4), 758-775. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028084
- Judge, T., Van Vianen, A., & De Pater, I. (2004). Emotional stability, core self-evaluations, and job outcomes: A review of the evidence and an agenda for future research. *Human Performance*, 17(3), 325-346. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327043hup1703_4
- Judge, T., Cable, D., Boudreau, J., & Bretz, R. (1995). An empirical investigation of the predictors of executive career success. *Personnel Psychology*, 48(3), 485-519. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1995.tb01767.x
- Kane-Urrabazo, C. (2006). Management's role in shaping organizational culture. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 14(3), 188-194. https://doi:10.1111/j.1365-2934.2006.00590.x
- Keller, S., and Meaney, M. (2017, November). "Attracting and retaining the right talent". *Organization*. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/attracting-and-retaining-the-right-talent
- King, W. C. (2013). Ambition, A history. Yale University Press.
- Knowledge@Wharton. (2019, February 22). *Redefining Gender at Work: How Companies Are Evolving*. https://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article/redefining-gender-at-work/
- Kotlyar, I. (2018). High-potential programs: Why still a gap? *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics, 15*(1), 60-73. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v15i1.631
- Kwon, K., & Rupp, D. (2013). High-performer turnover and firm performance: The moderating role of human capital investment and firm reputation. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 34(1), 129-150. https://doi:10.1002/job.1804

- Lawler, E. E. (2017). Reinventing talent management: Principles and practices for the new world of work (1st ed.). Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Lee, G. (2018). Talent measurement: A holistic model and routes forward. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 16(4), e1-e11. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.990
- Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (1994). an alternative approach: The unfolding model of voluntary employee turnover. *The Academy of Management Review, 19*(1), 51-89. https://doi:10.5465/AMR.1994.9410122008
- Leibowitz, Z., Farren, C., & Kaye, B. (1986). Designing career development systems (First ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Lepak, D. P., & Snell, S. A. (1999). The human resource architecture: Toward a theory of human capital allocation and development. *The Academy of Management Review, 24*(1), 31-48. https://doi:10.2307/259035
- Lent, R. (2013). Social cognitive career theory. In S. Brown, and R. Lent, (Eds.). *Career development and counseling: putting theory and research to work* (pp. 115-146). John Wiley & Sons.
- Lent, R. & Brown, S. (2013a). Understanding and facilitating career development in the 21st century. In Brown, S. and Lent, R. (Eds.). *Career development and counseling: putting theory and research to work* (pp. 1-26). Wiley & Sons.
- Lent, R. and Brown, S. (2013b). Social cognitive model of career self-management: toward a unifying view of adaptive career behavior across the life span. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, (60)4, 557-568. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033446
- Lent, R., Brown, S., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior* (45)1, pp. 79-122. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027
- Leung, S. A. (2008). Big five career theories. In J.A. Athanasios & R. Van Esbroeck (Eds.) *International Handbook of Career Guidance* (pp. 115-132). Springer.
- MacRae, I. D., & Furnham, A. (2014). *High potential: How to spot, manage and develop talented people at work.* Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Maertz, C. P., & Griffeth, R. W. (2016;2004;). Eight motivational forces and voluntary turnover: A theoretical synthesis with implications for research. *Journal of Management*, 30(5), 667-683. https://doi:10.1016/j.jm.2004.04.001
- Mahan, T. Nelms, D. Bearden, C. & Pearce, B. (2019). 2020 Work Institute Retention Report. https://info.workinstitute.com/hubfs/2020%20Retention%20Report/Work%20Institutes% 202020%20Retention%20Report.pdf

- Malik, A. R., Singh, P., & Chan, C. (2017). High potential programs and employee outcomes: The roles of organizational trust and employee attributions. *Career Development International*, 22(7), 772-796. https://doi:10.1108/CDI-06-2017-0095
- Matthews, G., Dreary, I., & Whiteman, M. (2003). *Personality Traits, (2nd ed.)*. Cambridge University Press.
- Matthews, K. (1982). Psychological perspectives on the type A behavior pattern. *Psychological Bulletin*, 91(2), 293-323. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.91.2.293
- Mattone, J., & Xavier, L. (2013). Talent leadership: A proven method for identifying and developing high-potential employees (1st ed.). AMACOM, American Management Association.
- McClelland, D. (1987). Human Motivation. Cambridge University Press.
- McClelland, D. & Burnham, D. (1976). Power is the great motivator. *Harvard Business Review* (54)2, 100-110.
- McClelland, D. (1961). The achieving society. Van Nostrand.
- McClelland, D., Atkinson, J., Clark, R., and Lowell, E. (1953). *The achievement motive*. Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- McCrae, R.R., (2010). The place of FFM in personality psychology. *Psychological Inquiry, 21*, 57-64. https://doi:10.1080/10478401003648773
- McPherson, J. (2021). What matters most when it comes to driving employee retention? Culture Amp Blog. https://www.cultureamp.com/blog/whats-driving-employee-retention/
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Meyers, M. C., & van Woerkom, M. (2014). The influence of underlying philosophies on talent management: Theory, implications for practice, and research agenda. *Journal of World Business*, 49(2), 192-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2013.11.003
- Mischel, W. (2009). From personality and assessment (1968) to personality science, 2009. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43(2), 282-290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.12.037
- Morgan, G., (1997). *Images of organization* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Morris, S. (2018, Sept 25). HR Leaders must pay close attention to employee dissatisfaction with career development to prevent drops in workplace effort and attrition. *Gartner*. https://www.gartner.com/smarterwithgartner/lack-of-career-development-drives-employee-attrition/

- Murphy, W.C.M. (2007). *Individual and relational dynamics of ambition in careers* (Doctoral dissertation, Boston College). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Ng, T., Eby, L., Sorensen, K., & Feldman, D. (2005). Predictors of objective and subjective career success: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*(2), 367-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00515.x
- Nolan, T. (2018). *The no. 1 employee benefit that no one's talking about.* Gallup. https://www.gallup.com/workplace/232955/no-employee-benefit-no-one-talking.aspx
- Oakes, K. (2012, Winter). How long does it take to get fully productive?. *Training Industry Quarterly* 5(1). https://www.nxtbook.com/nxtbooks/trainingindustry/tiq_2012winter/index.php?startid=4 0#/p/40
- Oatley, K. (2013). Emotion. *Oxford bibliographies*. https://doi.org/0.1093/OBO/9780199828340-0131
- O'Connell, J. (2018). Why is ambition such a dirty word? *Irish Independent*. https://www.irishtimes.com/life-and-style/people/ambition-why-is-it-still-a-dirty-word-for-women-1.3665720
- Otto, K., Roe, R., Sobiraj, S., Baluku, M. M., & Garrido Vásquez, M. E. (2017). The impact of career ambition on psychologists' extrinsic and intrinsic career success: The less they want, the more they get. *Career Development International*, 22(1), 23-36. https://doi:10.1108/CDI-06-2016-0093
- Parks-Leduc, L., Feldman, G., & Bardi, A. (2015). Personality traits and personal values: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Social Psychology Review, 19*(1), 3-29. https://doi:10.1177/1088868314538548
- Parsons, F. (1909). Choosing a vocation. Houghton Mifflin.
- Parsad, B., Alexander, D., Farris, E., & Hudson, L. (2003). *High School Guidance Counseling*. U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) NCES 2003–015. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2003/2003015.pdf
- Patton, W., & McMahon, M. (2014). Career development and systems theory: Connecting theory and practice (3rd ed.). Sense Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6209-635-6
- Patton, M. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Perez, T. (2019, June 4). Earnings peak at different ages for different demographic groups. Payscale.com. https://www.payscale.com/data/peak-earnings
- Pettigrove, G. (2007). Ambitions. *Ethical Theory and Moral Practice*, 10(1), 53-68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10677-006-9044-4

- Plachecki, F. J. (2003). *Being undervalued at work* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Pojman, L., & Vaugh, L. (Eds). (2010). Classics of philosophy, 3rd ed. Oxford University Press.
- Pryor, R., & Bright, J. (2012). The value of failing in career development: A chaos theory perspective. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, 12(1), 67-79. https://doi:10.1007/s10775-011-9194-3
- Quote Investigator. (2015). "Whether you believe you can do a thing or not, you are right". https://quoteinvestigator.com/2015/02/03/you-can/
- Rand, A. (1957). Atlas Shrugged. Dutton.
- Rijnsoever, F.J. (2017). (I can't get no) saturation: A simulation and guidelines for sample sizes in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE 12*(7), e0181689. https://doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181689
- Roberts, B. W. (2006). Personality development and organizational behavior. In B. Staw (Ed.), *Research in Organizational Behavior: An Annual Series of Analytical Essays and Critical Reviews* (pp. 1-40). (Research in Organizational Behavior; Vol. 27). Elsevier Inc.. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-3085(06)27001-1
- Roccas, S., Sagiv, L., Schwartz, S. H., & Knafo, A. (2002). The big five personality factors and personal values. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(6), 789-801. https://doi:10.1177/0146167202289008
- Roman, C. (2014). Coaching. In N. Chalofsky, T. Rocco, & M. Morris Eds.), *Handbook of human resource development (1st ed.)* (pp. 402-424). Wiley.
- Rothwell, W. J. (2012). Talent management: Aligning your organisation with best practices in strategic and tactical talent management. *Training & Development*, 39(2), 12-14.
- Ruona, W. (2014). Talent management as a strategically aligned resource. In N. Chalofsky, T. Rocco, & M. Morris Eds.), *Handbook of human resource development (1st ed.)* (pp. 438-455). Wiley.
- Ryan, R, & Deci, E. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, *55*(1), 68-78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Samuelson, R. (1999). Ambition and its enemies: A secret of America's success, it both prods us to achievement and condemns us to failure. Newsweek, 134(8). Newsweek Media Group Inc.
- Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage.

- Savin-Baden, M. and Major, CH. (2013). *Qualitative research: The essential guide to theory and practice*. Routledge.
- Schein, E. H. (1985). Organizational culture and leadership (First ed.). Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Schein, E. H. (1978). *Career dynamics: Matching individual and organizational needs*. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Schreiber, J. (2017). *Motivation 101*. Springer Publishing Company.
- Schuler, R. S. (2015). The 5-C framework for managing talent. *Organizational Dynamics*, 44(1), 47-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2014.11.006
- Schuler, R. S., Jackson, S. E., & Tarique, I. (2011). Global talent management and global talent challenges: Strategic opportunities for IHRM. *Journal of World Business*, 46(4), 506-516. https://doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2010.10.011
- Scott, J. C., Scott, J. C., & Reynolds, D. H., (2010). *Handbook of workplace assessment:* Evidence-based practices for selecting and developing organizational talent. (1st ed.). Wiley.
- Sears, L. Nelms, D., & Mahan, T. (2017). 2017 Work Institute Retention Report. http://info.workinstitute.com/retentionreport2017
- Shakespeare, W. (1958). The complete works of Shakespeare: Players illustrated edition. Grolier.
- Siegling, A., Ng-Knight, T., & Petrides, K. (2019). Drive: Measurement of a sleeping giant. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 71(1), 16-31. https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb0000123
- Siegling, A., & Petrides, K. (2016). Drive: Theory and construct validation. *PLoS ONE 11*(7): e0157295. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157295
- Skiba, T. S. (2016). The effect of high potential status, promotions and strategic expectation-enhancing practices on leader turnover. (Order No. 10110530) [Doctoral dissertation, Florida Technical Institute]. ProQuest Central; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1790111484).
- Silzer, R., & Borman, W. (2017). The potential for leadership. In Collings, D., Mellahi, K., & Cascio, W. (Eds), *The Oxford Handbook of Talent Management*, (pp. 87-114). Oxford University Press.
- Silzer, R., Church, A. H., Rotolo, C. T., & Scott, J. C. (2016). I-O practice in action: Solving the leadership potential identification challenge in organizations. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *9*(4), 814-830. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2016.75

- Silzer, R., & Church, A. (2009). The Pearls and Perils of Identifying Potential. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 2(4), 377-412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1754-9434.2009.01163.x
- Simon, H. (1979). Rational Decision Making in Business Organizations. *The American Economic Review*, 69(4), 493-513.
- Sisk, V., Burgoyne, A., Sun, J., Butler, J., & McNamara, B. (2018). To what extent and under which circumstances are growth mind-sets important to academic achievement? two meta-analyses. *Psychological Science*, *29*(4), 549-571. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617739704
- Skinner, B.F. (1938). *The behavior of organisms: An experimental analysis*. B.F. Skinner Foundation.
- Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM). (2017). *Understanding organizational structures*. https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/tools-and-samples/toolkits/pages/understandingorganizationalstructures.aspx
- Spenner, K., & Featherman, D. (1977). *Achievement ambitions*. https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015020076991;view=1up;seq=3
- Stahl, G., Björkman, I., Farndale, E., Morris, S. S., Paauwe, J., & Stiles, P. (2012). Six principles of effective global talent management. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 53(2), 25-32.
- Steffens, N., Fonseca, M., Ryan, M., Rink, F., Stoker, J., & Nederveen Pieterse, A. (2018). How feedback about leadership potential impacts ambition, organizational commitment, and performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(6), 637-647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.06.001
- Sweet, S., Fortier, M., Strachan, S., & Blanchard, C. (2012). Testing and integrating self-determination theory and self-efficacy theory in a physical activity context. *Canadian Psychology*, *53*(4), 319-327. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030280
- Talevich, J., Read, S., Walsh, D., Iyer, R., & Chopra, G. (2017). Toward a comprehensive taxonomy of human motives. *PloS One*, *12*(2), e0172279. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172279
- Thunnissen, M., & Gallardo-Gallardo, E. (2017). *Talent management in practice: An integrated and dynamic approach*. Emerald Publishing.
- Thunnissen, M., Boselie, P., & Fruytier, B. (2013). Talent management and the relevance of context: Towards a pluralistic approach. *Human Resource Management Review*, 23(4), 326-336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2013.05.004
- Tracy, N., Daly, R., & Joyce, J. (Executive Producers). (2015). *The science of personality*. [Video production]. United States: Hogan Assessment Systems. http://www.thescienceofpersonality.com/

- 2019 Training Industry Report. (2019). *Training*, 56(6), 18-31.
- Trint.com. (2021). "Our technology". https://trint.com/technology?tid=591a6eac23ff1e14bf4a3e05
- University of Arkansas. (2019). *Research & Innovation Research Compliance*. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45-cfr-46/index.html
- US Census. (2020). *North American industry classification system*. https://www.census.gov/eos/www/naics/faqs/faqs.html
- Walton, B. (2017, Jan 3). Importance of career development in organizational success. Fors—Marsh Group. https://www.forsmarshgroup.com/knowledge/news-blog/posts/previous-years/january/importance-of-career-development-in-organizational-success/.
- Watson, D. (2000). *Mood and temperament*. Guildford Press. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=iPFboulhcQcC&oi=fnd&pg=PA1&ots=7q_UXp6Vxx&sig=YLMJbxdTbiZFd5KjaZ7_vRQOeS0#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Weber, M. (1992). The protestant ethic and the spirit of capitalism. (T. Parsons, Trans.) Routledge. (Original work published 1930).
- Werder, C., Pachter, R., & Bui, E. (2018). Five essentials for high-performance career development. Brandon Hall Group. https://www.hrsg.ca/hubfs/ebooks/hrsg-brandon-hall-5-essentials-for-high-performance-career-development.pdf
- WGBH Boston, & APA. (1990). *The Power of the Situation*. https://www.learner.org/series/discovering-psychology/the-power-of-the-situation/
- What is ambition? (2018). *Human Resource Management International Digest, 26*(3), 20-22. https://doi.org/10.1108/HRMID-01-2018-0013
- Whitener, E. M., Brodt, S. E., Korsgaard, M. A., & Werner, J. M. (1998). managers as initiators of trust: An exchange relationship framework for understanding managerial trustworthy behavior. *Academy of Management Review*, 23(3), 513-530. https://doi:10.5465/AMR.1998.926624
- World Health Organization. (2020). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- Wilcox, M. (2013). Managing ambition (1st ed.). Center for Creative Leadership.
- Woolridge, A. (October 5, 2006). "A survey of talent: the battle for brainpower". *The Economist*. The Economist Group.

Appendix A: Informed Consent Document

Project Title: Understanding the role of ambition in the workplace.

Principal Researcher: Jeff Bean, Doctoral Candidate

Faculty Advisor: Dr. Vicki Dieffenderfer

Purpose: The purpose of this study is to determine the value of ambition in the workplace

from both an employee and an organizational perspective by interviewing

experienced managerial personnel in different industries.

Procedures:

You are invited to participate in an interview of approximately 30 minutes via a technology-mediated means. The interview will begin with the administration and subsequent review of the Workplace Ambition Measure (WAM), a short, 25-item assessment. The purpose of this is to familiarize the interviewee with a multifaceted concept of ambition and to respond to interview questions seeking your perspective on the value of ambition in the workplace. The interview will be conducted via a teleconferencing platform and will be recorded via electronic means and transcribed for accuracy. You may elect to receive a copy of the transcript. The interviewer may take written notes during the interview.

Risks of Participation:

There are no known physical risks associated with this project greater than those ordinarily encountered in daily life. Potential occupational/employment risk is mitigated by the omittance of any specific organization or participant name. As the interview will be remotely conducted, there are no risks of COVID19 transmission.

Benefits: No direct benefits are associated with this research to participants.

Confidentiality:

Names of participants, names of any individuals not widely known in the public, and the names of specific organizations will not be included in any final outcomes of this work. Recordings of interviews will be stored on password protected, limited access computer hard drives or cloud storage with reasonable precautions and safeguards utilized.

Responses and their analysis will be utilized for the candidate's University of Arkansas doctoral dissertation and subsequent research as well as shared with the developer of the WAM.

The original recordings, if utilized, will be kept for a minimum of five years. There are no foreseeable risks in maintaining confidentiality. After a period of seven years, recordings in any form may be deleted.

All interview transcripts in any form as well as any other information obtained from the participants will be kept confidential to the fullest extent of the law and University policy.

The University of Arkansas Institutional Review Board has the authority to inspect consent records and data files to assure compliance with approved procedures. If you have questions or concerns about your rights as a research participant, please contact Ro Windwalker, the University's IRB Compliance Coordinator, at 479-575-2208 or irb@uark.edu.

Compensation	No compensation will be offered for participation in this study.
Contacts:	For questions about this study, contact Jeff Bean, telephone: , telephone: , email: jbean@uark.edu.
For concerns	about this study, contact:
Colleg 140 SV Tenne	ssee Tech University wille, <u>TN 38505</u>
Participant Ri	ghts: As a participant in this research, you are entitled to know the nature of my research. You are free to decline to participate, and you are free to stop the interview or withdraw from the study at any time. No penalty or risks are associated with withdrawing your participation. Feel free to ask any questions at any time about the nature of the research activity and the methods I am using.
Signatures:	I have read and fully understand the consent form. I sign it freely and voluntarily. A copy of this form has been given to me.
	Signature of Participant Date
	I certify that I have personally explained this document before requesting that the participant sign it.
	Signature of Researcher Date

Appendix B: Permission to use WAM

From: Dr. Cynthia Fields, <

Sent: Sunday, December 2, 2018

To: Jeff Bean

Subject: Re: Dissertation Research

Hi Jeff,

This sounds like an interesting topic. I think the relationship between ambition and narcissism should be teased out. Off the cuff, I'd say that narcissism fuels ambition. I can't imagine coaching someone without knowing the underlying factors that drive them. Healthy narcissism is adaptive and flexible. When it goes too far, organizations suffer staggering losses.

I'd be curious to hear your thoughts about the shifts in attitudes and work styles in millennials and how that shapes ambition. There may be a clash of styles when millennials try to show their stuff and are stymied by old school hierarchical management structures. Or when millennials value time more than money or accomplishments. Someone I know just finished his residency and was offered a combined teaching and attending position at Harvard Med School and one of its hospitals. He said he would only do it if it was a four day a week job. When Harvard turned down the request, he said "Okay" and headed for the door. Eventually Harvard agreed to his request, but I imagine some of the older doctors were surprised that a 28-year-old who happens to be highly ambitious would risk losing a job offer.

You're welcome to use my scale for free if you share the data with me after its collected. Please note that it's now copyrighted. I'd be happy to read your draft and throw in my two cents!

Good luck with your work and stay in touch.

Best regards,

Cynthia

Appendix C: Letter to Participants

Dear eVersity Student,

One of the hallmarks of a college education is the consumption of academic work that stems from the discovery of new knowledge. The faculty members that teach are engaged in the constant discovery of new knowledge. This new knowledge forms the basis of scientific discoveries, deeper understanding of the human condition, and a richer appreciation of our shared past. One of the most common methods of discovering new knowledge is through the use of surveys and interviews. Based on your status as a eVersity business student you have been selected to participate in a research project being conducted by one of our faculty members, Mr. Jeff Bean. You may have already had a course with Mr. Bean or will do so in the future. His project seeks to better understand the role of "ambition" as it relates to the workplace.

Your decision to participate – or not – will have no bearing on any aspect of your student status in any way and any statements you make will not be attributed to you individually or any organization where you work. Rather, information will be generalized to demographic characteristics and type of employment experience (e.g., a Hispanic male employed by in the retail sector between the ages of 30 and 50, etc). Only Professor Bean will know your full identity and that information will not be shared without your express permission. You can stop participation at any time for any reason.

To participate, you must: 1) have two years or more of total work experience, 2) be between 30 and 50 years old and, 3) be willing to be interviewed regarding your views and experience of ambition in the workplace. Also, if you have had at least two years of experience as a manager or supervisor, a few additional questions will be asked from that perspective as well. Only the first 15 individuals whose schedules permit will be interviewed. If you are selected to participate, you will be asked to complete a short assessment (less than 5 minutes) and participate in a recorded interview via teleconference with you in which you respond to up to ten (10) questions (about 30 minutes or less).

If you are interested and willing to be considered for participation, **CLICK HERE**.

If you would like additional information or have questions, I encourage you to contact Professor Bean at jbean@uark.edu. Should you have additional questions or concerns, you are also welcome to contact his dissertation advisor, Dr. Vicki Dieffenderfer at vmdieffe@uark.edu or myself via responding to this email.

As always, I am grateful for your continued engagement at eVersity.

Sincerely,

Michael K. Moore, PhD Chief Academic and Operating Officer University of Arkansas System *e*Versity

Appendix F: Pre-Interview Questionnaire

***This will be an electronic form

Pre-Interview Questions

Thank you very much for your willingness to participate in this research. Your responses to these questions will help look for patterns and gaps in other collected data.

Name:						
Age:						
Gender:	Male	Female				
	Transgender Male	Transgender Female				
	Gender Variant/Non	Gender Variant/Non-Conforming				
	Other	Prefer not to disclose				
Race:	African American or Black					
	Asian	Asian				
	Native Hawaiian or Pacific	Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander				
	White					
	Hispanic or Latino C	Origin Not Hispanic or Latino Origin				
	Prefer not to disclose					
Highest Ed	ucation: less than high school	diploma				
	high school diploma					
	some college but less	s than 4-year degree				
	4-year degree					
	master's degree or h	igher				
How many	years of full-time work experience of	lo you have?				
How many	years of experience managing the w	ork of others do you have?				
Do you hav of age?	ve at least two years of experience m	anaging others who are between 30 and 50 years				
	Yes No					

Appendix G: The Workplace Ambition Measure (WAM) Assessment

This assessment is presented to help familiarize you with both the concept of ambition and how it can be expressed as well as to give you an idea of how you might assess yourself prior to an interview in which you will be asked several questions regarding ambition in the workplace.

For each sentence, simply give yourself a rating that you think accurately reflects the extent to which you agree with the statement with "1" being "strongly disagree" to "5" indicating you "strongly agree".

Aspirations	Aspirations Self-R		-Ra	ting	ξ
It's important for me to move up in my job or company.	1	2	3	4	5
It's important for me to move up in my profession.	1	2	3	4	5
I am determined to achieve my goals.	1	2	3	4	5
I get excited when I think about where my career is going.	1	2	3	4	5
It is important for me to succeed in my profession.		2	3	4	5
Active Engagement					
I take charge of meetings.	1	2	3	4	5
I tell people what I think of them and their work in a direct way.	1	2	3	4	5
I am direct with my criticisms of people.	1	2	3	4	5
I am forceful.	1	2	3	4	5
I like to talk to large groups of people.	1	2	3	4	5
Competitiveness					
It takes me a while to regroup after failure.	1	2	3	4	5
I get frustrated if somebody does a better job than I do.	1	2	3	4	5
I need ongoing rewards to stick with a tough project.		2	3	4	5
Being better than co-workers is more satisfying than just getting a		2	3	4	5
job done. Other people seem to juggle more projects than I do.	1	2	3	4	3
It takes me a while to regroup after failure.		2	3	4	5
Perseverance					
I push myself to stick with tough projects.	1	2	3	4	5
I think about how to improve my work performance.	1	2	3	4	5
I work longer hours than my peers and co-workers.	1	2	3	4	5
I push myself to accomplish a lot.	1	2	3	4	5
My colleagues tell me I work really hard.	1	2	3	4	5
Personal Investment					
I get fired up when I am working on something really challenging.		2	3	4	5
I go out on a limb to stand up for my ideas.		2	3	4	5
I get frustrated when I realize that I could have done a better job.			3	4	5
I have had some very good ideas.	1	2	3	4	5
People say I have high standards for the people who work for me.		2	3	4	5

Appendix H: Sample Online Survey for Eligibility and Intent to Participate

Potential participants will receive a Qualtrics survey with the following questions:

Do you have at least two years of experience managing others between the ages of 30 to 50, five years or more of full-time work experience, and willing to participate in this study by allowing a remotely recorded interview lasting approximately 30 minutes? [Yes or No]

f "Yes	s" $-$
	Please enter your first name and last name:
	Please enter your preferred email:
	Please enter a phone contact:
	Years of experience managing others between the ages of 30 and 50:
	Years of full-time work experience:
	Please note any concerns or comments regarding contacting you (e.g., do not call after 9pm, only use email, call between 9am and 6pm, etc.).
f "No	"_
	"Thank you for your consideration."

Appendix I: Partner Organization Consent Agreement

Copy of correspondence between the author and Dr. Michael Moore, Chief Academic and Operating Officer, University of Arkansas System eVersity summarizing the intent of the research and requesting consideration for eVersity undergraduate business program as subjects.

> From: Michael Moore To:

Jeff Bean

Subject: Re: dissertation - Jeff Bean - Partner Organization Consent Agreement

Date: Wednesday, January 13, 2021 11:15:47 AM

Jeff.

I'm happy to work with you to reach a sample of students from eVersity. We pulled the business students for the past three terms and have 212 names for you. Send me a draft of the letter when you get approval and we can coordinate the outreach.

Michael

On Mon, Jan 11, 2021 at 3:31 PM Jeff Bean <i bean@uark.edu> wrote:

Michael,

Per our recent conversation, I deeply appreciate your willingness to engage eVersity business students the opportunity with my research on the value of ambition in the workplace. I think they are a very good fit as this group represents a diverse perspective in the modern workplace that has experience with one or more facets of ambition.

Following your affirmative response to this email which will serve to document agreement for inclusion into the IRB submission, I will be sending you a draft communication for the purpose of soliciting participants that you can review and edit to reflect your own voice and thoughts. After IRB approval, we'll be poised to send the communication and I will eagerly begin collecting data and subsequent analysis.

Thank you,

Jeff Bean

From: Jeff Bean

Sent: Monday, January 4, 2021 12:35 PM

To: Dr. Michael Moore

Subject: dissertation - Jeff Bean

Michael,

I hope this finds you well and COVID free and poised to an even better 2021.

For [early!] 2021, I am working to get my own dissertation completed. After passing the oral defense, I made final tweaks in preparation for IRB submission yet I needed a "partner organization" from which to get 15 participants for an up to ½ hour remote video interview. After connecting with a few potential organizations, in light of the increasing demands on staff with regard to COVID and other org changes, finding a single organization to partner with is proving more difficult than I anticipated.

It is in this regard that I am asking for your permission to solicit participation from eVersity business degree students or recent alumna. Given my affiliation with eVersity and in light of the overall fit of the population as working adults, the students in the business program would be an excellent match for this voluntary, non-deceptive technology-mediated, less-than-30-minute interview on their experience regarding their perception of the value of ambition in the workplace. Specifically, I am asking permission to send an email requesting their participation with an accompanying link to a survey to both get key demographic and scheduling information as well as a few basic screening questions regarding employment and experience.

As you may recall from our previous conversation, my dissertation if focused on clarifying the value of ambition in the workplace. Though similar in some topical ways to your own dissertation, mine specifically excludes any elements of *political* ambition and is focused on the workplace. Interestingly, 75% of voluntary departures are tied to a lack of career development and talent management implications (Mahan et al., 2019) and I am hopeful that, in addition to shedding might on my own ambition, my research point to ways that all workplaces can better manage talent.

While you likely have far greater experience in what such at letter of cooperation should look like – and, I specifically invite your input – I am under the impression that your affirmative response to this email would construe sufficient evidence of intent-to-collaborate for inclusion into my IRB submission. For your convenience, I have attached my approved Problem Statement (sans accompanying reference list) below my signature.

Thanks so much for your speedy consideration and advocacy,

Jeff Bean

Problem Statement

Talent management comprises a wide range of human resource activities within the context of organization that is inclusive of selection, placement, development, and succession planning (Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017; Shuler, 2015; Chambers et al., 1998). In this regard, the Work Institute notes that voluntary turnover accounts for three of every four separations and represents a \$630 billion cost to organizations in the US alone (Mahan et al., 2019). In addition, the total that US organizations collectively spend on training and development in 2019 is \$83 billion (2019 Training Industry Report, 2019). As such, ensuring these efforts are delivered to the right individuals with both the desire to benefit and the ability to develop their potential as part of their own strategy to advance their career are valid concerns of organizations (Bynam et al., 2002).

From the perspective of talent management, the two aspects of the ambition concept that are the most related to career advancement and development are elements of the themes of achievement and aspiration (Fields, 2002) which reflect an employee's ability to actualize the biological drive of "getting ahead" in life and career choices (Tracy et al.., 2015, 3:30; Hogan & Holland, 2003). In the context of the workplace, appropriate career development programs and processes show an effort on behalf of the organization to find, develop, and retain good employees in productive roles (Thunnissen & Gallardo-Gallardo, 2017; Shuler, 2015; Chambers et al., 1998). Despite this, the result in a lack of career opportunity is frequently cited as a top reason employees leave an organization (Achievers, 2020; Akhtar, 2019; Mahan et al., 2019; Morris, 2018; Gallup, 2017; Conference Executive Board (CEB), 2015).

Despite this considerable relevance of ambition in the career development process, there is a notable scarcity of research on the topic of ambition which creates uncertainty regarding its actual relevance or value in the workplace despite many studies which note both the high salience of ambition to talent selection, performance management, or career outcomes as well as the scarcity of research on the topic (Bersin & Chamorro-Premuzic, 2019; Jones et al.., 2017; Siegling & Petrides, 2016; Judge & Kammeyer-Miller, 2012, Pettigrove, 2007; Ng et al.., 2005; Desrochers & Dahir, 2000). Outside of a very limited audience that is the target of Hogan Personality Assessments or CCL activities and literature, there is little evidence of ambition being used in any purposeful, structured means (Evatt, 2019; Wilcox, 2013; King, 2013). Given the thematic alignment of the ambition concept with career success in the workplace, it may be possible for organizations to take advantage of the ambition concept by assessing and managing an employee's career development accordingly as a means to retain a high-performing workforce. Thus, this study seeks to elucidate the potential value of organizations being aware of and more actively managing the ambition concept.

Appendix J: Institutional Review Board Approval



To: Jeff Bean BELL 4188

From: Douglas J Adams, Chair

IRB Expedited Review

Date: 02/26/2021

Action: Expedited Approval

Action Date: 02/26/2021
Protocol #: 2101309611

Study Title: Understanding the Importance of Ambition in the Workplace

Expiration Date: 02/15/2022

Last Approval Date:

The above-referenced protocol has been approved following expedited review by the IRB Committee that oversees research with human subjects.

If the research involves collaboration with another institution then the research cannot commence until the Committee receives written notification of approval from the collaborating institution's IRB.

It is the Principal Investigator's responsibility to obtain review and continued approval before the expiration date.

Protocols are approved for a maximum period of one year. You may not continue any research activity beyond the expiration date without Committee approval. Please submit continuation requests early enough to allow sufficient time for review. Failure to receive approval for continuation before the expiration date will result in the automatic suspension of the approval of this protocol. Information collected following suspension is unapproved research and cannot be reported or published as research data. If you do not wish continued approval, please notify the Committee of the study closure.

Adverse Events: Any serious or unexpected adverse event must be reported to the IRB Committee within 48 hours. All other adverse events should be reported within 10 working days.

Amendments: If you wish to change any aspect of this study, such as the procedures, the consent forms, study personnel, or number of participants, please submit an amendment to the IRB. All changes must be approved by the IRB Committee before they can be initiated.

You must maintain a research file for at least 3 years after completion of the study. This file should include all correspondence with the IRB Committee, original signed consent forms, and study data.

cc: Vicki Dieffenderfer, Key Personnel